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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Westport Innovations Inc.
(Registrant)

Date: June 8, 2011 By: /s/ Bill Larkin
Bill Larkin

Title: Chief Financial Officer
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784,566

674,460

Total notes payable and indebtedness under revolving credit facility, including current portion
519,228

232,515

318,874

210,392

156,032

Capital lease obligations
—

140

3,428

7,761
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10,201

Total stockholders’ equity
535,768

472,898

436,541

388,741

343,497

(1) The year ended December 31, 2018 includes the impacts of the adoption of ASC Topic 606, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers on January 1, 2018, the acquisition of NewVoiceMedia, which was completed in the fourth
quarter, and the acquisition of TokBox, which was completed in the third quarter.
(2) The year ended December 31, 2016 includes the impacts of the acquisition of Nexmo, which was completed in the
second quarter.
(3) The year ended December 31, 2015 includes the impacts of the acquisition of iCore, which was completed in the
third quarter and the acquisition of Simple Signal, which was completed in the second quarter.
(4) The year ended December 31, 2014 includes the impact of the acquisition of Telesphere Networks Ltd., which was
completed in the fourth quarter.
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ITEM 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion together with “Selected Financial Data” and our consolidated financial
statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion contains
forward-looking statements, which involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from those
we currently anticipate as a result of many factors, including the factors we describe under “Item 1A—Risk Factors,” and
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

OVERVIEW

We are a leading provider of cloud communications services for businesses and consumers. Our business services
transform the way people work and businesses operate through a portfolio of communications solutions that enable
internal collaboration among employees, while also keeping companies closely connected with their customers, across
any mode of communication, on any cloud-connected device. Vonage customers can choose among or combine two
separate service delivery options to suit their specific cloud communication needs. They can buy Vonage Business as
a subscription and they can buy our Vonage API Platform and consume our cloud communication as a service product
as programmable modules, delivered via APIs. We also provide a robust suite of feature-rich residential
communication solutions.
Business  
For our Business customers, we provide innovative, cloud-based Unified Communications as a Service, or UCaaS,
solutions, comprised of integrated voice, text, video, data, collaboration, and mobile applications over our flexible,
scalable Session Initiation Protocol based Voice over Internet Protocol, or VoIP, network. We also offer CPaaS
solutions designed to enhance the way businesses communicate with their customers by embedding communications
into apps, websites and business processes. In August 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of TokBox which
added video functionality to the CPaaS suite of services available to its customers. In combination, our products and
services permit our business customers to communicate with their customers and employees through any
cloud-connected device, in any place, at any time without the often costly investment required with on-site equipment.
We have a robust set of product families tailored to serve the full range of the business value chain, from the SMB
market, through mid-market and enterprise markets. We provide customers with multiple deployment options,
designed to provide the reliability and quality of service they demand. We provide customers the ability to integrate
our cloud communications platform with many cloud-based productivity and CRM solutions, including Google’s G
Suite, Zendesk, Salesforce’s Sales Cloud, Oracle, and Clio. With our ability to integrate these cloud-based, workplace
tools, Vonage integrates the entire business communications value chain - from employee communications that
maximize productivity to the direct engagement with customers that CPaaS provides. When combined with our MPLS
network, as well as voice services over customers' broadband networks via our SmartWan solution, we create a
differentiated offering. On October 31, 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of NewVoiceMedia, a leading
provider of Contact Center as a Service, or CCaaS, solutions allowing the Company to compliment its existing suite of
cloud communications services available to its customers.
Consumer  
For our Consumer customers, we enable users to access and utilize our services and features, via their existing internet
connections, including over 3G/4G, LTE, Cable, or DSL broadband networks. This technology enables us to offer our
Consumer customers attractively priced voice and messaging services and other features around the world on a variety
of devices. Our Consumer strategy is focused on the continued penetration of our core North American markets,
where we will continue to provide value in international long distance and target under-served segments.
Services outside of the United States
We currently have UCaaS and consumer operations in the United States, United Kingdom, and Canada and believe
that our low-cost Internet based communications platform enables us to cost effectively deliver voice and messaging
services to other locations throughout the world. Through Nexmo, we have operations in the United States, United
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Kingdom, Hong Kong, and Singapore, and provide CPaaS solutions to our customers located in many countries
around the world.
Trends in Our Industry
A number of trends in our industry have a significant effect on our results of operations and are important to an
understanding of our financial statements.
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Competitive landscape.  We face intense competition from traditional telephone companies, wireless companies, cable
companies, and alternative communication providers. Most traditional wireline and wireless telephone service
providers and cable companies are substantially larger and better capitalized than we are and have the advantage of a
large existing customer base. In addition, because our competitors provide other services, they often choose to offer
VoIP services or other voice services as part of a bundle that includes other products, such as video, high speed
Internet access, and wireless telephone service, which we do not offer. We also compete against alternative
communication providers. Some of these service providers have chosen to sacrifice telephony revenue in order to gain
market share and have offered their services at low prices or for free. As we continue to introduce applications that
integrate different forms of voice and messaging services over multiple devices, we are facing competition from
emerging competitors focused on similar integration, as well as from alternative voice communication providers. We
also are subject to the risk of future disruptive technologies. In connection with our emphasis on the international long
distance market in the United States, we face competition from low-cost international calling cards and VoIP
providers in addition to traditional telephone companies, cable companies, and wireless companies, each of which
may implement promotional pricing targeting international long distance callers.
Regulation.  Our business has developed in a relatively lightly regulated environment. For further discussion regarding
regulatory issues which impacts the Company, refer to "Regulation" in Note 11, Commitments and Contingencies to
our financial statements.
Key Operating Data
The table below includes key operating data that our management uses to measure the growth and operating
performance of the Business segment:

Business For the Years Ended
December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Service revenues per customer $358 $327 $312
Business revenue churn 1.1 % 1.2 % 1.3 %
Service revenues per customer.  Service revenues per customer for a particular period is calculated by dividing the
average monthly service revenues for the period by the average number of customers over the number of months in
the period. The average number of customers is the number of customers on the first day of the period, plus the
number of customers on the last day of the period, divided by two. Service revenues excludes revenues from trading
and auction customers. Service revenues per customer increased from $327 for 2017 to $358 for 2018 primarily
driven by the Company's successful efforts to attract larger business customers and to expand services provided to our
existing business customers.
Business revenue churn.  Business revenue churn is calculated by dividing the revenue from customers or customer
locations that have been confirmed to be foregone during a period by the simple average of the total revenue from all
customers in that period. Revenue for purposes of determining Business revenue churn is service revenue excluding
revenue from our trading and auction customers, and usage in excess of a customer’s contracted service plan,
regulatory fees charged to customers, and credits. The simple average of total revenue from all customers during the
period is the total revenue as defined herein on the first day of the period, plus the total revenue as defined herein on
the last day of the period, divided by two. Terminations, as used in the calculation of churn statistics, do not include
customers terminated during the period if termination occurred within the first month after activation. Other
companies may calculate business revenue churn differently, and their business revenue churn data may not be
directly comparable to ours. Business revenue churn decreased slightly from 1.2% in 2017 to 1.1% in 2018.  Our
revenue churn will fluctuate over time due to economic conditions, seasonality in certain customer's operations, loss
of customers who are acquired, and competitive pressures including promotional pricing. We are continuing to invest
in our overall quality of service which includes customer care headcount and systems, billing systems, on-boarding
processes and self-service options to ensure we scale our processes to our growth and continue to improve the overall
customer experience.
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The table below includes key operating data that our management uses to measure the growth and operating
performance of the Consumer segment:

Consumer For the Years Ended
December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Average monthly revenues per subscriber line $26.42 $ 26.19 $ 26.43
Subscriber lines (at period end) 1,287,649 1,492,067 1,711,366
Customer churn 1.8 % 2.0 % 2.2 %
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Average monthly revenues per subscriber line.  Average monthly revenues per subscriber line for a particular period is
calculated by dividing our revenues for that period by the simple average number of subscriber lines for the period,
and dividing the result by the number of months in the period. The simple average number of subscriber lines for the
period is the number of subscriber lines on the first day of the period, plus the number of subscriber lines on the last
day of the period, divided by two. Our average monthly revenues per subscriber line increased from $26.19 for 2017
to $26.42 for 2018 due primarily to the Company's ability to retain its more tenured customers.
Subscriber lines.  Our subscriber lines include, as of a particular date, all paid subscriber lines from which a customer
can make an outbound telephone call on that date. Our subscriber lines include fax lines, including fax lines bundled
with subscriber lines in our small office home office calling plans and soft phones, but do not include our virtual
phone numbers and toll free numbers, which only allow inbound telephone calls to customers. Subscriber lines
decreased from 1,492,067 as of December 31, 2017 to 1,287,649 as of December 31, 2018, reflecting planned actions
to enhance the profitability of the assisted sales channel by eliminating lower performing locations and restructuring
the pricing offers, and to shift investment to our business market.
Customer churn.  Customer churn is calculated by dividing the number of customers that have terminated during a
period by the simple average of number of customers in a given period. The simple average number of customers
during the period is the number of customers on the first day of the period, plus the number of customers on the last
day of the period, divided by two. Terminations, as used in the calculation of churn statistics, do not include customers
terminated during the period if termination occurred within the first month after activation. Other companies may
calculate customer churn differently, and their customer churn data may not be directly comparable to ours. Customer
churn decreased to 1.8% for 2018 from 2.0% for 2017. The decreased was due primarily to our decision to maximize
customer value by focusing marketing spend on higher return channels and away from assisted selling channels which
had higher early life churn. We monitor customer churn on a daily basis and use it as an indicator of the level of
customer satisfaction. Customers who have been with us for a year or more tend to have a lower churn rate than
customers who have not. In addition, our customers who are international callers generally churn at a lower rate than
customers who are domestic callers. Our customer churn will fluctuate over time due to economic conditions,
competitive pressures including promotional pricing targeting international long distance callers, marketplace
perception of our services, and our ability to provide high quality customer care and network quality and add future
innovative products and services. See the discussion below for detail regarding churn impacting our business
customers.
REVENUES
Revenues consist of services revenue and customer equipment and shipping fee revenue. Substantially all of our
revenues are services revenue. For consumer customers in the United States, we offer domestic and international rate
plans, including a variety of residential plans and mobile plans. Through our acquisitions we offer SMB, mid-market,
and enterprise customers several service plans with different pricing structures and contractual requirements ranging
in duration from month-to-month to three years. In addition, we provide managed equipment to business customers
for which the customers pay a monthly fee. Customers also have the opportunity to purchase premium features for
additional fees. In addition, we derive revenue from usage-based fees earned from customers using our cloud-based
software products. These usage-based software products include our messaging, voice, Verify and chat APIs.
Usage-based fees include number of text messages sent or received using our messaging APIs, minutes of call
duration activity for our voice APIs, and number of converted authentications for our Verify API. Services revenue is
offset by the cost of certain customer acquisition activities, such as rebates and promotions. In addition, in certain
instances, we charge disconnect fees which are recognized as revenue at the time the disconnect fees are collected
from our customer.
In the United States, we charge regulatory, compliance, E-911, and intellectual property-related recovery fees on a
monthly basis to defray costs, and to cover taxes that we are charged by the suppliers of telecommunications services.
In addition, we recognize revenue on a gross basis for contributions to the Federal Universal Service Fund, or USF,
and related fees. All other taxes are recorded on a net basis.
Revenues are generated from sales of customer equipment directly to customers for replacement devices, or for
upgrading their device at the time of customer sign-up for which we charge an additional fee. In addition, customer

Edgar Filing: WESTPORT INNOVATIONS INC - Form 6-K

10



equipment and shipping revenues include revenues from the sale of VoIP telephones in order to access our small and
medium business services. Customer equipment and shipping revenues also include the fees that customers are
charged for shipping their customer equipment to them.

OPERATING EXPENSES
Operating expenses consist of cost of revenues, sales and marketing expense, engineering and development expense,
general and administrative expense, and depreciation and amortization.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following table sets forth, as a percentage of consolidated operating revenues, our consolidated statement of
income for the periods indicated: 

For the Years Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Total revenues 100  % 100  % 100  %

Operating Expenses:
Cost of revenues (excluding depreciation and amortization) 40 41 37
Sales and marketing 30 31 35
Engineering and development 5 3 3
General and administrative 13 12 13
Depreciation and amortization 7 7 7
Total operating expenses 95 94 95
Income from operations 5 6 5
Other Income (Expense):
Interest expense (1 ) (1 ) (2 )
Other income (expense), net — — —
Total other income (expense), net (1 ) (1 ) (2 )
Income before income taxes 4 5 3
Income tax expense — (8 ) (2 )
Net income (loss) 4  % (3 )% 1  %

Management's discussion of the results of operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 

The Company reported income before income taxes of $36,525 and $45,793 for the years ended December 31, 2018
and 2017, respectively. The decrease in income before income taxes as compared to the prior year was primarily
caused by higher other operating expenses of $31,935 as a result of increased engineering and development expenses
as the Company continues to increase focus on innovation along with increased general and administrative expenses
associated with the acquisitions of TokBox and NewVoiceMedia which were completed in the second half of 2018,
partially offset by higher gross margin discussed below.

The Company reported income before taxes of $45,793 and $30,845 for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively. The increase in income before income taxes is largely due to a decrease in other operating expenses
during the year ended December 31, 2017 of $18,376 due to a reduction in sales and marketing associated with the
Consumer segment as part of the Company's overall strategy to focus sales growth on its Business segment partially
offset by lower gross margin as discussed above.

The Company reported net income of $35,728 and net loss of $33,933 for the years ended December 31, 2018 and
2017, respectively. The increase in net income for the year ended December 31, 2018 is primarily the result of the
impact of the TCJA enacted in December 2017 resulting in income tax expense of $79,726 for the year ended
December 31, 2017 partially offset by the aforementioned decrease in income before income taxes.

The Company reported a net loss of $33,933 for the year ended December 31, 2017 and net income of $13,151 for the
year ended December 31, 2016. The decrease in net income was largely due to the impact of the enactment of the
TCJA in December 2017 resulting in income tax expense of $79,726, partially offset by the increase in income before
taxes of $14,948 as discussed above.
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We calculate gross margin as total revenues less cost of service, which primarily consists of fees that we pay to third
parties on an ongoing basis in order to provide our services and costs incurred when a customer first subscribes to our
service. The following table presents total revenues, cost of revenues and the composition of gross margin for the
years Ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016:
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For the years ended December
31,

$
Change
2017 to
2018

%
Change
2017 to
2018

$ Change
2016 to
2017

%
Change
2016 to
2017(in thousands, except percentages) 2018 2017 2016

Total revenues $1,048,782$1,002,286$955,621 $46,4965 % $46,665 5  %
Cost of revenues (1) 426,995 404,954 355,150 22,041 5 % 49,804 14  %
Gross margin $621,787 $597,332 $600,471 $24,4554 % $(3,139 )(1 )%

(1) Excludes depreciation and amortization of $27,754, $27,308, and $28,489, respectively.
Total revenues and cost of revenues were impacted by the following trends and uncertainties:

For the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017  
Total revenues increased 5% for the year ended December 31, 2018 as compared to the prior year period. The increase
is primarily due to business customer growth driving an increase in revenues of $109,222, offset by declining
consumer revenues of $62,726 in connection with the continued decline of subscriber lines. The Company continues
to expect that the Consumer portion of the Company's overall business will become less significant as the Company
reallocates resources to increase market share in its Business communications platforms.
Cost of revenues increased 5% for the year ended December 31, 2018 as compared to the prior year period driven by
increased costs incurred in servicing our business customers of $59,758 due to an increase in customers year over
year. This was partially offset by a decrease in costs in Consumer of $37,717 as subscriber lines continues to decline
resulting in lower international and long-distance termination costs.

For the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 
Total revenues increased 5% for the year ended December 31, 2017 as compared to the prior year period. The increase
is primarily due to Business customer growth of 33% driving an increase in revenues of $122,570 offset by declining
consumer revenues of $75,905 in connection with the continued decline of subscriber lines. The Company continues
to allocate resources toward the growth of its Business communication services and expects this trend of Business
revenue growth partially offset by the declining Consumer business.
Cost of revenues increased 14% for the year ended December 31, 2017 as compared to the prior year period driven by
increased costs incurred in servicing our business customers of $84,143 due to an increase in customers along with
costs associated with trading activities associated with the Company's API communication services that are
recognized on a gross basis beginning in the second quarter of 2017 which were reported as net in the prior year
quarter. This was offset by a decrease in costs in Consumer of $34,339 as subscriber lines continues to decline
resulting in lower international and long-distance termination costs.
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Business Gross Margin for the Years Ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 
For the years ended December 31, $ Change

2017 to
2018

%
Change
2017 to
2018

$ Change
2016 to
2017

%
Change
2016 to
2017

(in thousands, except percentages) 2018 2017 2016

Revenues
Service revenues $526,707 $417,118 $301,877 $109,589 26  % $115,241 38 %
Access and product revenues (1) 50,068 54,971 52,450 (4,903 ) (9 )% 2,521 5 %
Service, access and product revenues 576,775 472,089 354,327 104,686 22  % 117,762 33 %
USF revenues 31,369 26,833 22,025 4,536 17  % 4,808 22 %
Total revenues 608,144 498,922 376,352 109,222 22  % 122,570 33 %

Cost of revenues
Service cost of revenues (2) 239,096 184,054 111,485 55,042 30  % 72,569 65 %
Access and product cost of revenues (1) 58,081 57,906 51,129 175 —  % 6,777 13 %
Service, access and product cost of
revenues 297,177 241,960 162,614 55,217 23  % 79,346 49 %

USF cost of revenues 31,374 26,833 22,036 4,541 17  % 4,797 22 %
Total cost of revenues 328,551 268,793 184,650 59,758 22  % 84,143 46 %

Segment gross margin
Service margin 287,611 233,064 190,392 54,547 23  % 42,672 22 %
Gross margin ex-USF (Service, access
and product margin) 279,598 230,129 191,713 49,469 21  % 38,416 20 %

Segment gross margin $279,593 $230,129 $191,702 $49,464 21  % $38,427 20 %

Segment gross margin %
Service margin % 54.6 %55.9 %63.1 % (1.3 )% (7.2 )%
Gross margin ex-USF (Service, access
and product margin) % 48.5 %48.7 %54.1 % (0.2 )% (5.4 )%

Segment gross margin % 46.0 %46.1 %50.9 % (0.1 )% (4.8 )%

(1) Includes customer premise equipment, access, and shipping and handling.
(2) Excludes depreciation and amortization of $22,554, $20,100, and $18,820, respectively.

For the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017  
The following table describes the increase in business gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2018 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2017:

(in
thousands)

Service gross margin increased 23% primarily due to continued growth of our service offerings to our
Business customers consistent with our overall organic growth in our Business customer base of 14% as
compared to the prior year period along with the acquisitions of TokBox in August 2018 and
NewVoiceMedia in October 2018

$ 54,547

Access and product gross margin decreased due to higher costs providing access services to Business
customers during the current period (5,078 )

USF gross margin decreased mainly due to payment during the first quarter of 2018 for USF fees not
collected in 2017 (5 )

Increase in segment gross margin $ 49,464
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While service gross margin has increased, service gross margin percentage decreased to 54.6% for the year December
31, 2018 from 55.9% for the year ended December 31, 2017. The decrease in business service gross margin
percentage is a result of the sale of a greater proportion of lower margin services across our Business segment during
the year ended December 31, 2018 as compared to the same period in the prior year along with lower credits. Our
gross margin percentage may continue to be impacted by changes in the mix of service offerings provided to our
customers across our Business segment.

For the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 
The following table describes the increase in business gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2017 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2016:

(in
thousands)

Service gross margin increased 22% primarily due to higher CPaaS gross margin of $8,321 related to
Nexmo which was acquired on June 3, 2016 along with an increase in UCaaS gross margin of $34,351
primarily due to an increase in seats of 14% during the current year

$ 42,672

Product gross margin decreased 322% primarily due to lower costs during the current year period (4,256 )
USF gross margin increased slightly due to the decrease in Business seats along with the acquisitions of
Simple Signal and iCore 11

Increase in segment gross margin $ 38,427
While service gross margin has increased, service gross margin percentage decreased to 55.9% for the year
December31, 2017 from 63.1% for the year ended December 31, 2016. The decrease in business service gross margin
percentage is a result of the sale of a greater proportion of lower margin services across our Business segment during
the year ended December 31, 2017 as compared to the same period in the prior year. Our gross margin percentage may
continue to be impacted by changes in the mix of service offerings provided to our customers across our Business
segment and in different geographical regions.

34     VONAGE ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Edgar Filing: WESTPORT INNOVATIONS INC - Form 6-K

17



Table of Contents 

Consumer Gross Margin for the Years Ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 
For the years ended December 31, $ Change

2017 to
2018

%
Change
2017 to
2018

$ Change
2016 to
2017

%
Change
2016 to
2017

(in thousands, except percentages) 2018 2017 2016

Revenues
Service revenues $394,389 $454,340 $522,515 $(59,951) (13 )% $(68,175) (13 )%
Access and product revenues (1) 559 525 702 34 6  % (177 ) (25 )%
Service, access and product revenues 394,948 454,865 523,217 (59,917 ) (13 )% (68,352 ) (13 )%
USF revenues 45,690 48,499 56,052 (2,809 ) (6 )% (7,553 ) (13 )%
Total revenues 440,638 503,364 579,269 (62,726 ) (12 )% (75,905 ) (13 )%

Cost of revenues
Service cost of revenues (2) 47,439 80,454 100,054 (33,015 ) (41 )% (19,600 ) (20 )%
Access and product cost of revenues (1) 5,289 7,208 14,394 (1,919 ) (27 )% (7,186 ) (50 )%
Service, access and product cost of
revenues 52,728 87,662 114,448 (34,934 ) (40 )% (26,786 ) (23 )%

USF cost of revenues 45,716 48,499 56,052 (2,783 ) (6 )% (7,553 ) (13 )%
Total cost of revenues 98,444 136,161 170,500 (37,717 ) (28 )% (34,339 ) (20 )%

Segment gross margin
Service margin 346,950 373,886 422,461 (26,936 ) (7 )% (48,575 ) (11 )%
Gross margin ex-USF (Service, access
and product margin) 342,220 367,203 408,769 (24,983 ) (7 )% (41,566 ) (10 )%

Segment gross margin $342,194 $367,203 $408,769 $(25,009) (7 )% $(41,566) (10 )%

Segment gross margin %
Service margin % 88.0 %82.3 %80.9 % 5.7 % 1.4 %
Gross margin ex-USF (Service, access
and product margin) % 86.6 %80.7 %78.1 % 5.9 % 2.6 %

Segment gross margin % 77.7 %72.9 %70.6 % 4.8 % 2.3 %

(1) Includes customer premise equipment, and shipping and handling.
(2) Excludes depreciation and amortization of $5,200, $7,208, and $9,669, respectively.

For the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017 
The following table describes the decrease in consumer gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2018 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2017:

(in
thousands)

Service gross margin decreased primarily due to a decrease in subscriber lines of 14% resulting in lower
gross margin of $28,674 as we have reallocated resources focused on attracting business customers. This
was offset by a slight increase in average revenue per customer and lower overall costs incurred by the
Consumer segment resulting in increased gross margin of $1,738

$ (26,936 )

Access and product gross margin increased 29% primarily due lower equipment costs associated with
sales to customers during the current year 1,953

USF gross margin decreased mainly due to payment during the year for USF fees not collected in 2017 (26 )
Decrease in segment gross margin $ (25,009 )
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Consumer service gross margin percentage increased to 88.0% for the year ended December 31, 2018 from 82.3% for
the year ended December 31, 2017 due to lower international and domestic termination rates and the allocation of
certain shared network costs to Business as that revenue becomes a greater proportion of the whole. The increase in
Consumer service margin percentage is also driven by overall lower costs attributed to consumer services as the
Company shifts resources towards attracting more profitable business customers.
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For the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 
The following table describes the decrease in consumer gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2017 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2016:

(in
thousands)

Service gross margin decreased 11% primarily due to a decline in subscriber lines of 13% over the current
year reflecting planned actions to enhance profitability by restructuring pricing offers and targeting
customers with lower subscription acquisition costs

$ (48,575 )

Higher product gross margin of 51% primarily due to lower costs incurred primarily related to retail
equipment as the Company shifted away from utilizing retailers in the current year 7,009

Decrease in segment gross margin $ (41,566 )
Consumer service gross margin percentage increased to 82.3% for the year ended December 31, 2017 from 80.9% for
the year ended December 31, 2016 due to overall lower costs attributed to consumer services as the Company shifts
resources towards attracting more profitable business customers.
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Other Operating Expenses

The following table presents our other operating expenses during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and
2016, respectively:

For the years ended
December 31, $ Change

2017 to
2018

%
Change
2017 to
2018

$ Change
2016 to
2017

%
Change
2016 to
2017(in thousands, except percentages) 2018 2017 2016

Sales and marketing $311,433$313,251$330,969 $(1,818 )(1 )% $(17,718)(5 )%
Engineering and development 52,139 29,630 29,759 22,509 76  % (129 )—  %
General and administrative 135,324 122,537 123,304 12,787 10  % (767 )(1 )%
Depreciation and amortization 70,980 72,523 72,285 (1,543 )(2 )% 238 —  %
Total other operating expenses $569,876$537,941$556,317 $31,935 6  % $(18,376)(3 )%

For the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017 
Total other operating expenses increased by $31,935 during the year ended December 31, 2018 as compared to the
year ended December 31, 2017 primarily due to the following:

•
Engineering and development expense increased $22,509 or 76%, in connection with the Company's continued
transformation focused on innovation especially in regards to developing further functionality related to its proprietary
platform in order to support customers through the mid-market and enterprise sector.

•General and administrative expense increased by $12,787, or 10%, primarily due to acquisition related costs incurredby the Company during the second half of 2018 associated with the acquisitions of TokBox and NewVoiceMedia.

For the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 
Total other operating expenses decreased $18,376 during the year ended December 31, 2017 as compared to the year
ended December 31, 2016 primarily due to the following:

•

Sales and marketing expense decreased by $17,718, or 5%, due to a continued shift during 2017 in traditional
marketing investments targeting Consumer customers to more selective targeted advertising focused on attracting
more profitable Business customers resulting in overall fewer media marketing programs being deployed during the
current year.

Other Income (Expense)
For the years ended December
31,

$
Change
2017 to
2018

%
Change
2017 to
2018

$
Change
2016 to
2017

%
Change
2016 to
2017(in thousands, except percentages) 2018 2017 2016

Interest expense $(15,068)$(14,868)$(13,042) $(200 )(1 )% $(1,826)(14 )%
Other income (expense), net (318 )1,270 (267 ) (1,588 )(125 )% 1,537 576  %

$(15,386)$(13,598)$(13,309) $(1,788)(13 )% $(289 )(2 )%

For the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017 
Interest expense. The increase in interest expense of $200, or 1%, was mainly due to higher principal balances on our
2018 Credit Facility that we entered into in July 2018 and our 2016 Credit Facility that we entered into in July 2016 as
compared to the prior year on our 2016 Credit Facility along with rising rates during the second half of 2018.
Other income (expense), net. Other income (expense), net decreased by $1,588, or 125% in 2018 compared to 2017
due to the gain from the sale of the Hosted Infrastructure product line during the year ended December 31, 2017.

For the year ended December 31, 2017 compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 
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Interest expense. The increase in interest expense of $1,826, or 14%, was due mainly to higher interest rates in 2017
compared to 2016, partially offset by lower principal balances, and the additional interest expense associated with our
interest rate swaps arrangement.
Other income (expense), net. Other income (expense), net increased by $1,537, or 576% in 2017 compared to 2016
due the sale of the Hosted Infrastructure product line during the second quarter of 2017 as further discussed in Note
12, Acquisitions and Dispositions.
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Income Taxes
For the years ended December
31,

$
Change
2017 to
2018

%
Change
2017 to
2018

$ Change
2016 to
2017

%
Change
2016 to
2017(in thousands, except percentages) 2018 2017 2016

Income tax expense $(797) $(79,726) $(17,694) $78,92999 % $(62,032)(351 )%
Effective tax rate 2 %174 %57 %

For the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017     
We recognize income taxes equal to pre-tax income multiplied by our annual effective income tax rate. In addition,
adjustments are recorded for discrete period items and changes to our state effective tax rate which can cause the rate
to fluctuate from quarter to quarter.
During the year ended December 31, 2018, we recognized tax expense of $797 related to U.S., state and foreign
income tax expense. The Company has recorded a permanent benefit related to excess share-based stock
compensation. In addition, certain acquisition related expenses incurred during 2018 are treated as a permanent
difference as the expenses are not deductible for tax purposes but are a reduction of pre-tax income. The Company
also recorded a permanent difference related to the impact of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, or TCJA, related to the
excess compensation deduction pertaining to covered employees who received compensation in excess of $1 million
dollars.
During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company recognized tax expense of $79,726 which primarily reflects
the impact of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, or TCJA, which was signed into law by the President of the United States on
December 22, 2017. The TCJA most notably reduces the corporate tax rate from 35% to 21% along with eliminating
the alternative minimum tax, or AMT, and imposes a mandatory one-time tax on foreign earnings. The Company
recorded an income tax expense of $69,378 which is primarily with the re-measurement of the Company’s deferred tax
balances at the 21% income tax rate. The Company has concluded that the provisional amount recorded as of
December 31, 2017 is final and does not require any further adjustment.
During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company recognized tax expense of $17,694 which is primarily
related to the contingent consideration in connection with the acquisition of Nexmo which was treated as a permanent
difference as the expense is not deductible for tax purposes but is a reduction of pre-tax income.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Overview

During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 we generated cash from operations. We expect to
continue to balance efforts to grow our revenue while consistently achieving operating profitability. To grow our
revenue, we continue to make investments in growth initiatives, marketing, application development, network quality
and expansion, and customer care. Although we believe we will achieve consistent profitability in the future, we
ultimately may not be successful and we may not achieve consistent profitability. We believe that cash flow from
operations and cash on hand will fund our operations for at least the next twelve months.
The following table sets forth a summary of our cash flows for the periods indicated: 

For the years ended December
31,

$
Change
2017 to
2018

$ Change
2016 to
2017(dollars in thousands) 2018 2017 2016

Net cash provided by operating activities $123,205 $128,058 $93,456 $(4,853)$34,602
Net cash used in investing activities (407,230 )(30,737 )(191,449) (376,493)160,712
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 258,212 (96,242 )68,054 354,454 (164,296)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (410 )1,319 555 (1,729 )764
Operating Activities
Cash provided by operating activities decreased to $123,205 for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to
$128,058 for the year ended December 31, 2017, primarily due to a decrease of $73,071 in non-cash items offset by an
increase in net income. Also attributing to the decrease in operating activities was an increase in cash used for
working capital requirements of $1,443 during the year ended December 31, 2018 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2017 primarily due payment of acquisition related expenses made during the current year.
Cash provided by operating activities increased to $128,058 for the year ended December 31, 2017 as compared to
$93,456 for the year ended December 31, 2016 primarily due to an increase in operating income adjusted for non-cash
items of $27,817 driven by a decrease in operating expenses as compared to the year ended December 31, 2016
primarily attributable to decreased sales and marketing costs. Also attributing to the increase in operating activities
was a decrease in cash used for working capital requirements of $6,785 during the year ended December 31, 2017 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2016 primarily due to a decrease in timing of prepayments made during the
current year.
Investing Activities
Cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2018 of $407,230, which was an increase from cash
used in investing activities of $30,737 during the year ended December 31, 2017, was primarily attributable to the
acquisitions of NewVoiceMedia and TokBox of $380,484, net of cash acquired, slightly offset by a decrease in costs
associated with capital expenditures and acquisition and development of software.
Cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2017 of $30,737, which was a decrease from cash
used in investing activities of $191,449 during the year ended December 31, 2016 was primarily attributable to
payments of $163,042 made during the prior year to acquire Nexmo slightly offset by a decrease in cash provided
from the maturity and sale of marketable securities of $14,389.
Financing Activities
Cash provided by financing activities was $258,212 for the year ended December 31, 2018 as compared to cash used
in financing activities of $96,242 during the year ended December 31, 2017. The increase in cash provided by
financing activities was primarily attributable to proceeds received from the credit facilities, net of principal payments
of $373,562, slightly offset by an increase in shares withheld for payment of employee taxes and a decrease in share
repurchased.
Cash used by financing activities was $96,242 for the year ended December 31, 2017 as compared to cash provided by
financing activities of $68,054 during the year ended December 31, 2016. The decrease in cash provided by financing
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activities was primarily attributable increased payments for financing arrangements net of new borrowings of
$195,188 slightly offset by fewer repurchases of common stock of $23,360 during the current year.
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Sources of Liquidity

The principal sources of liquidity are derived from available borrowings under our existing financing arrangements,
existing cash on hand, and cash flows from operations. As described in Note 7, Long-Term Debt and Revolving Credit
Facility, to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company's financing arrangements consist of the 2018 Credit
Facility comprised of a $100,000 term note and a $500,000 revolving credit facility.

Uses of Liquidity

Acquisition of Businesses
NewVoiceMedia was acquired on October 31, 2018 for $350,179. We financed the transaction from cash on hand and
through borrowings of $335,000 through our 2018 Credit Facility. In addition, on August 1, 2018, the Company
completed the acquisition of TokBox for cash of $32,906. See Note 12, Acquisitions and Dispositions for further
information regarding the Company's acquisitions during the year ended December 31, 2018.
Nexmo was acquired on June 3, 2016. Nexmo shareholders received consideration of $231,122. Of the
consideration, $194,684 (net of cash acquired of $16,094) was paid at close, which consisted of $163,093 of cash (net
of $16,094 of cash acquired) and 6,823 in shares of Vonage common stock valued at $31,591.  The
remaining $36,438 of the $231,122 purchase price was in the form of restricted cash, restricted stock and options held
by Nexmo management and employees, subject to vesting requirements over time.    
State and Local Sales Taxes
We have contingent liabilities for state and local sales taxes. As of December 31, 2018, we had a reserve of $3,302. If
our ultimate liability exceeds this amount, it could affect our liquidity unfavorably. However, we do not believe it will
significantly impair our liquidity.
Capital Expenditures
For the year ended December 31, 2018, capital expenditures were primarily for the implementation of software
solutions and purchase of network equipment as we continue to expand our network. Our capital expenditures for the
year ended December 31, 2018 were $26,746, of which $7,714 was for software acquisition and development. The
majority of these expenditures are comprised of investments in information technology and systems infrastructure,
including an electronic data warehouse, online customer service, and customer management platforms. For 2019, we
believe our capital and software expenditures will be approximately $40,000.
Available Borrowings Under the 2018 Credit Facility
We maintain significant availability under our line of credit to meet our short-term liquidity requirements. As of
December 31, 2018, amounts available under the 2018 Credit Facility totaled $75 million.
On July 31, 2018, the Company entered into the 2018 Credit Facility consisting of a $100 million senior secured term
loan and a $500 million revolving credit facility bearing interest at LIBOR plus 2.25% at closing. The 2018 Credit
Facility represents a $150 million increase from the 2016 Credit Agreement and has a maturity date of July 31, 2023.
The Company used $232 million of the proceeds from the 2018 Credit Facility plus cash on hand to retire all
outstanding indebtedness under the 2016 Credit Facility and to cover transaction fees and expenses. The co-borrowers
under the 2018 Credit Facility are the Company and Vonage America Inc., the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary.
Obligations under the 2018 Credit Facility are guaranteed, fully and unconditionally, by the Company’s other United
States subsidiaries and are secured by substantially all of the assets of each borrower and each guarantor.
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND OTHER COMMERCIAL COMMITMENTS
The table below summarizes our contractual obligations at December 31, 2018, and the effect such obligations are
expected to have on our liquidity and cash flow in future periods. 

Payments Due by Period

(dollars in thousands) Total 1 year
or less

2-3
years

4-5
years

After 5
years

(unaudited)
Contractual Obligations:
2018 term note $95,000 $10,000 $20,000 $65,000 $—
2018 revolving credit facility 425,000 — — 425,000 —
Interest related to 2018 term note 17,473 4,754 7,931 4,788 —
Interest related to 2018 revolving credit facility 101,228 22,150 44,228 34,850 —
Operating lease obligations net of committed sub-leases 65,198 16,591 23,361 15,338 9,908
Purchase obligations 57,173 32,177 16,475 8,521 —
Total contractual obligations 761,072 85,672 111,995 553,497 9,908
Other Commercial Commitments:
Standby letters of credit 1,516 1,516 — — —
Total contractual obligations and other commercial commitments $762,588 $87,188 $111,995 $553,497 $9,908

Credit Facility.  On July 31, 2018, we entered the 2018 Credit Facility consisting of a $100,000 term note and a
$500,000 revolving credit facility. See Note 7, Long-Term Debt and Revolving Credit Facility in the notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
Operating Lease Obligations.  At December 31, 2018, we had future commitments for operating leases for co-location
facilities mainly in the United States that accommodate a portion of our network equipment, for office spaces leased in
Holmdel, New Jersey for our headquarters, as well as various other locations for field sales and administration offices,
in Tel Aviv, Israel for application development, and in London United Kingdom for our UK office.
Purchase obligations.  The purchase obligations are primarily commitments to vendors who will provide local inbound
services, provide customer care services, provide efax service, provide carrier operation, provide data center with
technical supports, provide networks and telephone related services, provide marketing infrastructure and services,
provide customer caller ID, provide electricity to our office, license patents to us, partner with us in international
operations, process LNP orders, and lease office space to us. In certain cases, we may terminate these arrangements
early upon payment of specified fees. These amounts do not represent our entire anticipated purchases in the future,
but represent only those items for which we are contractually committed. We also purchase products and services as
needed with no firm commitment. For this reason, the amounts presented do not provide a reliable indicator of our
expected future cash outflows or changes in our expected cash position. See also Note 11, Commitments and
Contingencies to our Consolidated Financial Statements.

SUMMARY OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts and classifications of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses, and
the related disclosures of contingent liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. The
SEC has defined critical accounting policies as those policies management believes are most important to the
portrayal of the Company's financial condition and results of operation and which require the Company to make its
most difficult and subjective judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates of matters that are inherently
uncertain. Based on this definition, the Company has identified the following critical accounting policies and
estimated addressed below. Our significant accounting policies are summarized in Note 2, Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies to our Consolidated Financial Statements. The following describes our critical accounting
policies and estimates:
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Use of Estimates
Our consolidated financial statements and notes thereof are prepared in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States, which require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported and disclosed in the consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes. Actual results
could differ materially from these estimates.
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We base our estimates on historical experience, available market information, appropriate valuation methodologies,
and on various other assumptions that we believed to be reasonable, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities. Estimates are used for such items as depreciable lives for
long-lived assets including intangible assets, tax provisions, uncollectible accounts, and assets and liabilities assumed
in business combinations, among others. In addition, estimates are used to test long-lived assets and goodwill for
impairment.
Revenue Recognition
On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted the guidance of ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
using the modified retrospective method applied to those contracts which were not completed as of January 1, 2018.
Our results for reporting periods beginning after January 1, 2018 are presented in accordance with the provisions
under Topic 606 but any prior period amounts have not been adjusted.
Upon our adoption of Topic 606, we measure revenue based upon consideration specified by contracts with our
customers. Revenue is recognized when our performance obligation under the contract is satisfied by transferring
control over the product or service to the customer. We derive our revenues for our Consumer and Business segments
primarily from the sale of our communication services and customer equipment as further described below. The
majority of the Company's contracts with customers have a single performance obligation for service revenues. We
recognize revenue with customers when control transfers, which occurs upon delivery of a service or product. For our
Business segment, the typical life of a customer for service is six years. The adoption of Topic 606 did not result in a
change in the timing of how the Company recognizes revenue.
Service Revenues
Substantially all of our revenues are service revenues, which are derived from monthly subscription fees under usage
based or pay-per-use type billing arrangements, and contract-based services plans. For consumer customers in the
United States, we offer domestic and international rate plans, including a variety of residential plans and mobile plans.
For business customers, we offer small and medium business, mid-market, and enterprise customers several service
plans with different pricing structures and contractual requirements ranging in duration from month-to-month to three
years. In addition, we provide managed equipment to business customers for a monthly fee. Customers also have the
opportunity to purchase premium features for additional fees. We also derive service revenues from per minute fees
for international calls if not covered under a plan, including calls made via applications for mobile devices and other
stand-alone products, and for any calling minutes in excess of a customer's monthly plan limits. For a portion of our
customers, monthly subscription fees are automatically charged to customers' credit cards, debit cards or electronic
check payments ("ECP"), in advance and are recognized over the following month as service is provided.
Service revenue also includes supplying messaging (SMS and Voice) services to customers as part of our CPaaS
offerings. Revenue is recognized in the period when messages are sent by the customer. We also transact with
providers or bulk SMS aggregators and sell services to these customers who then onsell to their customers. Since the
aggregator is our customer, revenue is recognized on a gross basis with related costs included in cost of revenues.
In the United States, we charge regulatory, compliance, E-911 and intellectual property-related fees on a monthly
basis to defray costs and to cover taxes that we are charged by the suppliers of telecommunications services. These
charges, along with the remittance to the relevant government entity, are recorded on a net basis. In addition, we
charge customers Federal Universal Service Fund ("USF") fees from customers to recover our obligation to contribute
to the fund, as allowed by the Federal Communications Commission ("FCC"). We recognize USF revenue on a gross
basis and record the related fees in cost of revenues.
Customer Equipment and Shipping Revenues
Revenues are generated from sales of customer equipment directly to customers for replacement devices, or for
upgrading their device at the time of customer sign-up for which we charge an additional fee. In addition, customer
equipment and shipping revenues include revenues from the sale of VoIP telephones in order to access our small and
medium business services. Customer equipment and shipping revenues also include the fees that customers are
charged for shipping their customer equipment to them.
Valuation of Goodwill and Intangible Assets
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As of December 31, 2018, the Company had goodwill of $598,499 consisting of $210,992 associated with the
acquisition of NewVoiceMedia on October 31, 2018, $20,650 associated with the acquisition of TokBox on August 1,
2018, $142,421 associated with the acquisition of Nexmo, and $224,436 associated with the acquisitions of iCore,
Simple Signal, Telesphere and gUnify. The Company does not have any goodwill allocated to its Consumer segment
as of December 31, 2018. In addition, the Company recognized intangible assets measured primarily based upon
significant inputs that are not observable in the market and represent Level 3 measurements as defined by ASC 820,
Fair Value Measurements. Intangible assets acquired in the settlement of litigation or by direct purchase are accounted
for based upon the fair value of assets received.
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The Company applies ASC 805, Business Combinations and ASC 350, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other to account
for goodwill and intangible assets. The Company amortizes all finite-lived intangible assets over their respective
estimated useful lives while goodwill has an indefinite life and is not amortized. Goodwill and intangible assets not
subject to amortization are tested for impairment on an annual basis on October 1st and, when specific circumstances
dictate, between annual tests. The Company tests for goodwill at the reporting unit level, which is identified by
assessing whether the components of the Company's operating segments constitute businesses for which discrete
financial information is available. With respect to the annual goodwill impairment test on October 1st, the Company
identified the UCaaS and CPaaS reporting units which collectively represent the Business segment as of that date. The
goodwill impairment test permits evaluating qualitative information to determine if it is more than 50% likely that the
fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value. If such a determination is made that it is more likely than
not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value or if the Company chooses not to utilize a
qualitative approach, then the traditional two-step goodwill impairment test described below is applied. The first step,
identifying a potential impairment, compares the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount, including
goodwill. If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the second step would need to be conducted;
otherwise, no further steps are necessary as no potential impairment exists. The second step, measuring the
impairment loss, compares the implied fair value of the reporting unit goodwill with the carrying amount of that
goodwill. Any excess of the reporting unit goodwill carrying value over the respective implied fair value is recognized
as an impairment loss.
The Company performed step zero of the goodwill impairment test, performing its qualitative assessment of
macroeconomic, industry and market events and circumstances, and the overall financial performance of the UCaaS
and CPaaS reporting units as of October 1st. The Company determined it was not more likely than not that the fair
value of the goodwill attributed each of the reporting units was less than its carrying amount and accordingly, no
impairment needed to be recognized for the year ended December 31, 2018. There were also no impairments recorded
during the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
We also perform a review of our purchased-intangible assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the useful life is shorter than we had originally estimated or that the carrying amount of assets may not be
recoverable. If such facts and circumstances exist, we assess the recoverability of purchased-intangible assets by
comparing the projected undiscounted net cash flows associated with the related asset or group of assets over their
remaining lives against their respective carrying amounts. Impairments, if any, are based on the excess of the carrying
amount over the fair value of those assets. If the useful life of the asset is shorter than originally estimated, we
accelerate the rate of amortization and amortize the remaining carrying value over the new shorter useful life. There
was no impairment of purchased-intangible assets identified for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, or 2016.
Income Taxes
We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities at enacted income tax rates for the temporary differences between the
financial reporting bases and the tax bases of our assets and liabilities. Any effects of changes in income tax rates or
tax laws are included in the provision for income taxes in the period of enactment. Our net deferred taxes primarily
consist of net operating loss carry forwards, or NOLs, intangibles and prepaids. We are required to record a valuation
allowance against our net deferred tax assets if we conclude that it is more likely than not that taxable income
generated in the future will be insufficient to utilize the future income tax benefit from our net deferred tax assets
(namely, the NOLs) prior to expiration. We periodically review this conclusion, which requires significant
management judgment. If we are able to conclude in a future period that a future income tax benefit from our net
deferred tax assets has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized, we are required in that period to reduce the
related valuation allowance with a corresponding decrease in income tax expense. This would result in a non-cash
benefit to our net income in the period of the determination. In subsequent periods, we would expect to recognize
income tax expense equal to our pre-tax income multiplied by our effective income tax rate, an expense that was not
recognized prior to the reduction of the valuation allowance.
As of December 31, 2018, we had NOLs for United States federal and state tax purposes, including those NOLs
acquired as part of past business combinations, of $578,522 and $245,403, respectively, expiring at various times
through 2037. In addition, we had NOLs for United Kingdom tax purposes of $162,535 with no expiration date.
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Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, if we undergo an “ownership change” which is generally defined as a
greater than 50% change by value in our equity ownership over a three-year period, our ability to use our pre-change
of control NOLs and other pre-change tax attributes against our post-change income may be limited. The Section 382
limitation is applied annually so as to limit the use of our pre-change NOLs to an amount that generally equals the
value of our stock immediately before the ownership change multiplied by a designated federal long-term tax-exempt
rate. At December 31, 2018, there were no limitations on the use of our NOLs except for the NOLs of Vocalocity as
of the date of acquisition for which the Company has reflected in the deferred tax asset.
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Capitalized Software
Capitalized costs include external consulting fees and payroll related cost for employees who are directly associated
with, and who devote time to, the Company's internal-use software projects. Capitalization begins when the planning
stage is complete, and continues during the application development stage. Capitalization ceases when the software
has been tested and is ready for its intended use. Accordingly, internal and external costs incurred during the
preliminary project stage, post implementation operation stage and ongoing maintenance are expensed as incurred.
The Company amortizes completed internal-use software that is used on its network to expense over its estimated
useful life.
Business Combinations

We account for acquired businesses treated as a business combination using the acquisition method of accounting,
which requires that assets acquired and liabilities assumed be recorded at the date of acquisition at their respective fair
values. Any excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the net assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred in the consolidated financial statements.  Significant
judgments are used in determining the estimated fair values assigned to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed and
in determining estimates of useful lives of long-lived assets acquired. Estimates of the fair values of assets acquired
and liabilities assumed are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, and when appropriate, include
assistance from independent third-party appraisal firms.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.
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ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to financial market risks, including changes in currency exchange rates and interest rates.
Foreign Exchange Risk
We sell our products and services primarily in the United States, Canada, the European Union, and Asia. A portion of
our sales denominated in Euros, the Canadian Dollar, and the British Pound, which are affected by changes in
currency exchange rates. Our financial results could be affected by changes in foreign currency exchange rates,
although foreign exchange risks have not been material to our financial position or results of operations to date.
We prepared a sensitivity analysis to determine the impact of hypothetical changes foreign currency exchange rates
have on our results of operations. The foreign currency rate analysis assumed a uniform movement in currencies by
10% relative to the U.S. Dollar on our results. Based upon the results of this analysis, a 10% change in currency rates
would have resulted in an increase or decrease in our earnings for the year ended December 31, 2018 of approximately
$1.6 million.
Interest Rate and Debt Risk
Our exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates primarily relates to our long-term debt. In order to hedge the
variability of expected future cash interest payments related to our credit facilities we have entered into three interest
rate swap agreements which were executed on July 14, 2017. The swaps have an aggregate notional amount of $150
million and are effective on July 31, 2017 through June, 3, 2020. Under the swaps our interest rate is fixed at 4.7%.
The interest rate swaps will be accounted for as cash flow hedges in accordance with ASC 815, Derivatives and
Hedging.
As of December 31, 2018, if the interest rate on our variable rate debt changed by 1% on our 2018 term note, our
annual debt service payment would change by approximately $700.  As of December 31, 2018, if the interest rate on
our variable rate debt changed by 1% on our 2018 revolving credit facility, our annual debt service payment would
change by approximately $3,000.

ITEM 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
The financial statements and schedules required by this Item are listed in Part IV, Item 15 in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
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ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, we have evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and
procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange
Act, as amended, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on the evaluation of
our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2018, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable
assurance level.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
We have implemented significant phases of reporting and transaction system upgrades and are in initial stages of
consolidating and upgrading additional transaction systems. Controls over installed and upgraded applications have
not changed significantly but may in planned future phases of system and application implementations. There were no
other changes to controls during the quarter ended December 31, 2018 that have materially affected or are reasonably
likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting. 

Inherent Limitations over Internal Controls

The Company's controls and other procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a
company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and
reported, within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. Disclosure
controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated
and communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or
persons performing similar functions, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our
management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only
reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives, and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the
cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
February 27, 2019 
To the Stockholders of Vonage Holdings Corp.:
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for
the company. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) promulgated under
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our principal executive and
principal financial officers and effected by our board of directors, management, and other personnel, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and
procedures that:

•Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions anddispositions of the assets of the company;

•
Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and

•Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or dispositionof the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.
Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018.
In making this assessment, our management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013).
We completed the acquisition of Telefonica Digital Inc. and its subsidiaries, or Tokbox, on August 1, 2018 and the
acquisition of NewVoiceMedia Limited and its subsidiaries, or NewVoiceMedia, on October 31, 2018. As part of our
ongoing integration of TokBox and NewVoiceMedia we are continuing to incorporate our controls and procedures
into these subsidiaries to augment our company-wide controls to reflect the risks inherent in these acquisitions. As
permitted by the SEC guidance for newly acquired businesses, our Management Report over Internal Control over
Financial Reporting for the year ended December 31, 2018 includes a scope exception that excludes TokBox and
NewVoiceMedia in order for management to have sufficient time to evaluate and implement our internal controls over
the operations of these subsidiaries. These businesses represent 16% of total assets and 1% of total revenues of the
consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018. Our management plans to
fully integrate the operations of these businesses into its assessment of the effectiveness of our internal controls over
financial reporting in 2019.
Based on our assessment, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of December 31,
2018, our internal control over financial reporting was effective.
Our independent registered public accounting firm has issued an attestation report on our internal control over
financial reporting. This report appears on page F-4.

/s/ ALAN MASAREK /s/ DAVID T. PEARSON
Alan Masarek
Director, Chief Executive
Officer

David T. Pearson
Chief Financial Officer(Principal Financial Officer and Duly Authorized Officer)

Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
See Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on page F-4.
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PART III

ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

 The discussion under the headings “Election of Directors,” “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance,”
“Director Nomination Process”, “Corporate Governance – Board Committees – Audit Committee”, and “Executive Officers
of Vonage” in our Proxy Statement for the 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is hereby incorporated by reference.
We have adopted a Vonage Code of Conduct applicable to all of our directors, officers, and employees and a Vonage
Finance Code of Ethics applicable to our chief financial officer and other employees in our finance organization. The
Vonage Code of Conduct and Vonage Finance Code of Ethics are posted in the Investor Relations section of our
website, www.vonage.com. We will provide you with print copies of our codes free of charge on written request to
Vonage Investor Relations, 23 Main Street, Holmdel NJ, 07733. We intend to disclose any amendments to, or waivers
from, provisions of our codes that apply to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal
accounting officer or controller, or any person performing in similar functions, on our website promptly following the
date of such amendment or waiver. 

ITEM 11. Executive Compensation  

The discussion under the headings “Compensation”, “Director Compensation”, “Corporate Governance – Compensation
Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation”, and “Corporate Governance – Compensation Committee Report” in our
Proxy Statement for the 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is hereby incorporated by reference.

The “Compensation Committee Report” contained in our Proxy Statement shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or
“filed” with the Securities and Exchange Commission or otherwise subject to the liabilities of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, nor shall it be deemed incorporated by reference in any filing under the Securities
Act of 1933, or the Securities Act, or the Exchange Act, except to the extent we specifically request that such
information be treated as soliciting material or specifically incorporate such information by reference into a document
filed under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.  

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The discussion under the headings “Stock Ownership Information” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in our
Proxy Statement for the 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is hereby incorporated by reference.

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence  

The discussion under the headings “Election of Directors – Transactions with Related Persons”, and “Corporate
Governance – Board Determination of Independence” in our Proxy Statement for the 2019 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders is hereby incorporated by reference.

ITEM 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The discussion under the heading “Ratification of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” in our Proxy
Statement for the 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is hereby incorporated by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Vonage Holdings Corp.

Opinion on the Financial Statement Schedule

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Vonage Holdings Corp. (the "Company") as of December
31, 2018 and 2017, and for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2018, and the Company's internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, and have issued our reports thereon dated February 27, 2019
(which report on the consolidated financial statements expresses an unqualified opinion and includes an explanatory
paragraph regarding the adoption of new accounting standards); such reports are included elsewhere in this Form
10-K. Our audit also included the financial statement schedule of the Company listed in the Index at Item 15. This
financial statement schedule is the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’s financial statement schedule based on our audit. In our opinion, such financial statement
schedule, when considered in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material
respects, the information set forth therein.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Parsippany, NJ
February 27, 2019 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Vonage Holdings Corp.
Holmdel, New Jersey

The audit referred to in our report dated February 28, 2017, except for Note 3 of the 2017 financial statements which
is not presented herein for which is February 27, 2018, relating to the consolidated financial statements of Vonage
Holdings Corp., which is listed in Item 8 of this Form 10-K also included the audit of the financial statement schedule
related to the year ended December 31, 2016 listed in the accompanying index. The financial statement schedule is the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on this financial statement
schedule based on our audit.

In our opinion such financial statement schedule for the year ended December 31, 2016, when considered in relation
to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly, in all material respects, the information
set forth therein.

/s/    BDO USA, LLP
Woodbridge, New Jersey
February 28, 2017
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Exhibits, Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schedule
(a)
(1) Financial Statements. The index to our financial statements is found on page F-1 of this Form 10-K.
(2) Financial Statement Schedule. Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts is as follows:

Balance at
Beginning
of Period

Additions Less
DeductionsOther

Balance
at End
of PeriodRevenueExpense

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts:
Year ended December 31, 2018 $ 2,258 $(489)$1,773 $ — $ —$ 3,542
Year ended December 31, 2017 2,093 (1,822)1,987 — — 2,258
Year ended December 31, 2016 1,091 (51 )1,053 — — 2,093
Inventory Obsolescence:
Year ended December 31, 2018 $ 108 $— $237 $ (193 ) $ —$ 152
Year ended December 31, 2017 117 — 412 (421 ) — 108
Year ended December 31, 2016 686 — 589 (1,158 ) — 117
Valuation Allowance for Deferred Taxes:
Year ended December 31, 2018 $ 22,390 $— $1,425 (1)$ — $ —$ 23,815
Year ended December 31, 2017 18,546 — 3,844 (1)— — 22,390
Year ended December 31, 2016 20,456 — (1,910 )(1)— — 18,546

(1)Amounts charged (credited) to expense represent change in valuation allowance.
(3) Exhibits.
Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibit

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated May 5, 2016, by and among Vonage Holdings Corp., Neptune
Acquisition Corp., Nexmo and the Representative (19)

2.2 Amendment No. 1 to Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated June 2, 2016, by and among Vonage Holdings
Corp., Neptune Acquisition Corp., Nexmo and the Representative (20)

2.3 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated July 30, 2018, by and among Nexmo Inc., Telefonica Digital Ltd and
Telefonica Digital, Inc  (23)

2.4 Recommended Offer by Vonage Holdings Corp. for NewVoiceMedia Limited, dated September 20, 2018
(24)

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation, effective June 13, 2018 (25)
3.2 Amended and Restated By-laws of Vonage Holdings Corp, effective June 13, 2018 (25)
4.1 Form of Certificate of Vonage Holdings Corp. Common Stock (2)

4.2

Tax Benefits Preservation Plan, dated as of June 7, 2012, by and between Vonage Holdings Corp. and
American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, as Rights Agent, including as Exhibit A the form of
Certificate of Designation of the Company's Series A Participating Preferred Stock and as Exhibit B the
forms of Right Certificate and of Election to Purchase (11)

10.1 Vonage Holdings Corp. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (28)*
10.2 Nexmo Inc. 2011 Stock Plan (21)*
10.3 Vonage Holdings Corp. 2006 Incentive Plan (Amended and Restated through June 6, 2013) (8)*
10.4 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the Vonage Holdings Corp. 2006 Incentive Plan (3)*
10.5 Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the Vonage Holdings Corp. 2006 Incentive Plan (9)*
10.6 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under the Vonage Holdings Corp. 2006 Incentive Plan (3)*

10.7 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Non-Executive Directors under the Vonage Holdings Corp. 2006
Incentive Plan (6)*

10.8
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283016000131/neptune-mergeragreementxse.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283016000143/a22neptune-amendmentno1tom.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283016000143/a22neptune-amendmentno1tom.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283018000101/stockpurchaseagreement.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283018000101/stockpurchaseagreement.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283018000105/a21offer.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283018000105/a21offer.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283018000047/publiccompanycharterfinalj.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283018000047/publiccompany-vgamendedand.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000104746906006601/a2169686zs-1a.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000119312512264353/d366557dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000119312512264353/d366557dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000119312512264353/d366557dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000119312512264353/d366557dex41.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283018000013/a10-k2017exhibit101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283016000148/ex991nexmo2011stockoptionp.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283013000047/vg-amendedandrestatedvonag.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000119312507082917/dex1027.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000119312510111242/dex105.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000119312507082917/dex1029.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000119312508173607/dex101.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000119312508173607/dex101.htm


Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for Non-Executive Directors (Annual Grant) under the
Vonage Holdings Corp. 2006 Incentive Plan (6)*

10.9 Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for Non-Executive Directors (Sign-on Grant) under the
Vonage Holdings Corp. 2006 Incentive Plan (6)*

10.10 Vonage Holdings Corp. 401(k) Retirement Plan (1)*

10.11 Lease Agreement, dated March 24, 2005, between 23 Main Street Holmdel Associates LLC and Vonage
USA Inc. (1)

10.12 Amendment to Lease Agreement, dated November 1, 2006, between 23 Main Street Holmdel Associates
LLC and Vonage USA Inc. (18)

10.13 Amendment to Lease Agreement, dated December 1, 2015, between 23 Main Street Holmdel Associates
LLC and Vonage USA Inc. (18)

10.14 Amended and Restated Non-Compete Agreement dated as of October 17, 2008 by and between Vonage
Holdings Corp. and Jeffrey A. Citron (7)

10.15 Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement for Jeffrey A. Citron under the Vonage Holdings Corp. 2006
Incentive Plan (16)*
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000119312508173607/dex103.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000119312508173607/dex103.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000104746906004820/a2168576zex-10_5.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000104746906004820/a2168576zex-10_6.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000104746906004820/a2168576zex-10_6.htm
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283016000113/ex1013amendmenttolease3.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283016000113/ex1014holmdelleaseamendmen.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283016000113/ex1014holmdelleaseamendmen.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000119312508231945/dex109.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000119312508231945/dex109.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000119312508165030/dex106.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000119312508165030/dex106.htm
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10.16 Employment Agreement dated as of April 25, 2013 by and between Vonage Holdings Corp. and David T.
Pearson (12)*

10.17 Letter Agreement, dated April 2, 2015, between Vonage Holdings Corp. and Edward M. Gilvar (13)*

10.18 Separation Agreement and General Release, by and among Vonage Holdings. Corp. and Edward M. Gilvar,
dated May 14, 2018 (26)*

10.19 Letter Agreement dated as of June 9, 2015 by and between Vonage Holdings Corp. and Omar Javaid (10)*
10.20 Letter Agreement dated as of January 30, 2017 by and between Vonage Holdings Corp. and Kenny Wyatt (29)*
10.21 Non-Executive Director Compensation Program (18)*
10.22 Form of Indemnification Agreement between Vonage Holdings Corp. and its directors and certain officers (4)*

10.23 Employment Agreement dated as of October 6, 2014 by and between Vonage Holdings Corp. and Alan
Masarek (17)*

10.24 First Amendment to Employment Agreement by and between Vonage Holdings Corp. and Alan Masarek (18)*

10.25 Settlement and Patent License Agreement, dated December 21, 2007, between Vonage Holdings Corp. and
AT&T Corp. (5)

10.26
Credit Agreement, dated August 13, 2014, by and among Vonage America Inc. and Vonage Holdings Corp., as
borrowers, various lenders, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Citizens Bank, N.A., as
Syndication Agent, and Silicon Valley Bank and Suntrust Bank, as Documentation Agents (14)

10.27

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement among Vonage America Inc., Vonage Holdings Corp., the Lenders
from time to time party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Citizens Bank, N.A., as
Syndication Agent, and Fifth Third Bank, MUFG Union Bank, N.A., Silicon Valley Bank and SunTrust Bank,
as Documentation Agents. (15)

10.28

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated June 3, 2016, by and among Vonage
America Inc., a Delaware corporation, Vonage Holdings Corp., Citizens Bank, N.A., Fifth Third Bank, MUFG
Union Bank, N.A., Silicon Valley Bank, SunTrust Bank, Keybank National Association, Santander Bank, N.A.,
Capital One National Association, First Niagara Bank, N.A., and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
Administrative Agent (22)

10.29
Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated July 31, 2018, by and among Vonage America Inc.,
Vonage Holdings Corp., JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Citizens Bank, N.A. and Bank
of America, N.A. as Syndication Agent, and the Lenders party thereto (27)

10.30 Form of Irrevocable Undertaking (Director) (24)
10.31 Form of Irrevocable Undertaking (Officer) (24)

10.32 Implementation and Management Warranty Deed, dated September 20, 2018, among each Warrantor provided
therein, NewVoiceMedia Limited and Vonage Holdings Corp. (24)

21.1 List of Subsidiaries of Vonage Holdings Corp. (29)
23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent registered public accounting firm (29)
23.2 Consent of BDO USA, LLP, independent registered public accounting firm (29)

31.1 Certification of our Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and
15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (29)

31.2 Certification of our Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Securities Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and
15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (29)

32.1 Certification of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (29)

(1)Incorporated by reference to Amendment No. 1 to Vonage Holdings Corp.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1(File No. 333-131659) filed on April 7, 2006.

(2)Incorporated by reference to Amendment No. 5 to Vonage Holdings Corp.’s Registration Statement on Form S-1(File No. 333-131659) filed on May 8, 2006.

(3)Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holding Corp.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-32887) filed onApril 17, 2007.
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http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283015000060/ex102tedgilvarcmoofferlett.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283018000034/a8-k502may2018tg.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283018000034/a8-k502may2018tg.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283015000088/a10-qq315exhibit101cpooffe.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283016000113/ex1026non-executivedirecto.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000119312507247563/dex102.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283015000025/a10-kexhibit1030employment.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283015000025/a10-kexhibit1030employment.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283016000113/ex1034firstamendmenttoceoe.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000119312508059036/dex1039.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000119312508059036/dex1039.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283014000071/exhibit101vonage_2014credi.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283014000071/exhibit101vonage_2014credi.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283014000071/exhibit101vonage_2014credi.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283015000076/a10-qq215exhibit103credita.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283015000076/a10-qq215exhibit103credita.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283015000076/a10-qq215exhibit103credita.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283015000076/a10-qq215exhibit103credita.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283016000142/vonage_2016amendmentno1to2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283016000142/vonage_2016amendmentno1to2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283016000142/vonage_2016amendmentno1to2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283016000142/vonage_2016amendmentno1to2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283016000142/vonage_2016amendmentno1to2.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283018000078/creditagreement.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283018000078/creditagreement.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283018000078/creditagreement.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283018000105/a101directorform.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283018000105/a102investorform.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283018000105/a103deed.htm
http://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1272830/000127283018000105/a103deed.htm


(4)Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holding Corp.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-32887) filed onNovember 14, 2007.

(5)Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holding Corp.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-32887) filed onMarch 17, 2008.

(6)Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holding Corp.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-32887) filed onAugust 11, 2008.

(7)Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holding Corp.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-32887) filed onNovember 10, 2008.

(8)Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holding Corp.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-32887) filed onJune 6, 2013.

(9)Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holding Corp.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-32887) filed onMay 7, 2010.

(10)Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holding Corp.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-32887) filedon November 4, 2015.

(11)Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holding Corp.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-32887) filed onJune 8, 2012.

(12)Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holding Corp.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-32887) filedon July 31, 2013.

(13)Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holding Corp.’s Annual Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-32887) filed onMay 7, 2015.

(14)Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holding Corp.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-32887) filedon November 5, 2014.

(15)Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holding Corp.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-32887) filedon July 30, 2015.

(16)Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holding Corp.’s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-32887) filed onAugust 4, 2008.

(17)Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holding Corp.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-32887) filed onFebruary 13, 2015.

(18)Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holding Corp.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-32887) filed onFebruary 12, 2016.

(19)Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holdings Corp.’s Quarterly Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-32887) filedon May 5, 2016.
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(20)Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holdings Corp.’s Quarterly Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-32887) filedon June 6, 2016.

(21)Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holding Corp.’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (File No. 001-32887)filed on June 29, 2016.

(22)Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holdings Corp.’s Quarterly Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-32887) filedon June 6, 2016.

(23)Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holdings Corp.'s Current Report on Form 8-K/A (File No. 001-32887) filedon September 18, 2018.

(24)Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holdings Corp.'s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-32887) filed onSeptember 20, 2018.

(25)Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holdings Corp.'s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-32887) filed onJune 14, 2018.

(26)Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holdings Corp.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (File No. 001-32887) filedon August 1, 2018.

(27)Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holdings Corp.'s Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-32887) filed onAugust 2, 2018.

(28)Incorporated by reference to Vonage Holdings Corp.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 001-32887) filedon February 27, 2018.
(29)Filed herewith.
*Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
(b) Exhibits Filed Herewith
Refer to (a)(3) above.
(c) Financial Statement Schedule
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts.

ITEM 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of Holmdel,
State of New Jersey, on February 27, 2019. 

VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.

Dated:February 27, 2019 By: /S/ DAVID T. PEARSON
David T. Pearson
David T. Pearson
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Duly Authorized Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and as of the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/S/ ALAN MASAREK Director, Chief Executive Officer February 27, 2019
Alan Masarek (principal executive officer)

/S/ DAVID T. PEARSON Chief Financial Officer February 27, 2019
David T. Pearson (principal financial officer)

/S/ DAVID LEVI Senior Vice President and Controller February 27, 2019
David Levi (principal accounting officer)

/S/ JEFFREY A. CITRON Director, Chairman February 27, 2019
Jeffrey A. Citron

/S/ HAMID AKHAVAN
Hamid Akhavan Director February 27, 2019

/S/ NAVEEN CHOPRA Director February 27, 2019
Naveen Chopra

/S/ STEPHEN FISHER Director February 27, 2019
Stephen Fisher

/S/ CAROLYN KATZ Director February 27, 2019
Carolyn Katz

/S/ JOHN J. ROBERTS Director February 27, 2019
John J. Roberts

/S/ GARY STEELE Director February 27, 2019
Gary Steele
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Vonage Holdings Corp.

Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Vonage Holdings Corp. (the "Company") as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income/(loss), cash
flows, and stockholders’ equity, for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes
(collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2018, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations
of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 27, 2019, expressed an unqualified opinion on the
Company's internal control over financial reporting.
Changes in Accounting Principles
As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, the Company has changed its method of accounting for the excess
tax benefit from stock-based awards prospectively beginning January 1, 2017 in accordance with the adoption of
Accounting Standards Update 2016-09, Compensation - Stock Compensation: Improvements to Employee
Share-Based Payment Accounting.  On January 1, 2018, the Company changed its method of accounting for the
recognition of costs to obtain and fulfill contracts with customers in accordance with the adoption of Accounting
Standards Update 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606).  
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with
the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to
those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Parsippany, NJ
February 27, 2019 
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2017.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Vonage Holdings Corp.
Holmdel, New Jersey

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders’
equity and cash flows of Vonage Holdings Corp. for the year ended December 31, 2016. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audit provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
results of operations and cash flows of Vonage Holdings Corp. for the year ended December 31, 2016, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/    BDO USA, LLP
Woodbridge, New Jersey    
February 28, 2017, except for Note 3 of the 2017 financial statements which is not presented herein for which is
February 27, 2018
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Vonage Holdings Corp.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Vonage Holdings Corp. (the "Company") as of
December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based
on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018, of the
Company and our report dated February 27, 2019, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and
included an explanatory paragraph regarding the adoption of new accounting standards.
As described in Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management excluded from its
assessment the internal control over financial reporting at Telefonica Digital, Inc. and its subsidiaries (“Tokbox”) and
NewVoiceMedia Limited and its subsidiaries (“NewVoiceMedia”), which were acquired on August 1, 2018 and October
31, 2018, respectively, and whose financial statements constituted 16% of total assets and 1% of total revenues of the
consolidated financial statement amounts as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018. Accordingly, our audit did
not include the internal control over financial reporting at Tokbox and NewVoiceMedia.
Basis for Opinion
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered
with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

Edgar Filing: WESTPORT INNOVATIONS INC - Form 6-K

53



/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Parsippany, NJ
February 27, 2019 

F-4     VONAGE ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Edgar Filing: WESTPORT INNOVATIONS INC - Form 6-K

54



Table of Contents 

VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP. CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP. CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands, except par value) December 31,
2018

December
31, 2017

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5,057 $31,360
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $3,542 and $2,258, respectively 75,342 44,159
Inventory, net of allowance of $152 and $108, respectively 1,470 2,971
Deferred customer acquisition costs, current portion 11,755 —
Prepaid expenses 26,496 23,763
Other current assets 7,634 7,522
Total current assets 127,754 109,775
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $104,999 and $87,792,
respectively 49,262 46,754

Goodwill 598,499 373,764
Software, net of accumulated amortization of $100,870 and $93,858, respectively 17,430 22,252
Deferred customer acquisition costs 37,881 —
Restricted cash 2,047 1,967
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $162,788 and $124,573, respectively 299,911 173,270
Deferred tax assets 102,560 110,892
Other assets 24,144 20,007
Total assets $ 1,259,488 $858,681

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 53,262 $29,766
Accrued expenses 87,370 85,706
Deferred revenue, current portion 53,447 30,255
Current portion of notes payable 10,000 18,750
Total current liabilities 204,079 164,477
Indebtedness under revolving credit facility 425,000 141,000
Notes payable, net of debt related cost and current portion 84,228 72,765
Other liabilities 10,413 7,541
Total liabilities 723,720 385,783

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 11) — —

Stockholders’ Equity
Common stock, par value $0.001 per share; 596,950 shares authorized at December 31, 2018
and 2017; 309,736 and 298,174 shares issued at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively;
239,743 and 230,939 shares outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively

310 298

Additional paid-in capital 1,415,682 1,375,391
Accumulated deficit (611,985 ) (672,561 )
Treasury stock, at cost, 69,993 shares at December 31, 2018 and 67,235 shares at December
31, 2017 (275,009 ) (244,239 )

Accumulated other comprehensive income 6,770 14,009
Total stockholders’ equity 535,768 472,898

Edgar Filing: WESTPORT INNOVATIONS INC - Form 6-K

55



Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 1,259,488 $858,681

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

For the years ended December 31,
(In thousands, except per share amounts) 2018 2017 2016

Total revenues $1,048,782 $1,002,286 $955,621

Operating Expenses:
Cost of revenues (excluding depreciation and amortization) 426,995 404,954 355,150
Sales and marketing 311,433 313,251 330,969
Engineering and development 52,139 29,630 29,759
General and administrative 135,324 122,537 123,304
Depreciation and amortization 70,980 72,523 72,285
Total operating expenses 996,871 942,895 911,467
Income from operations 51,911 59,391 44,154
Other Income (Expense):
Interest expense (15,068 ) (14,868 ) (13,042 )
Other income/(expense), net (318 ) 1,270 (267 )
Total other income/(expense), net (15,386 ) (13,598 ) (13,309 )
Income before income taxes 36,525 45,793 30,845
Income tax expense (797 ) (79,726 ) (17,694 )
Net income (loss) $35,728 $(33,933 ) $13,151

Earnings/(loss) per common share:
Basic $0.15 $(0.15 ) $0.06
Diluted $0.14 $(0.15 ) $0.06

Weighted-average common shares outstanding:
Basic 237,499 225,311 215,751
Diluted 248,892 225,311 231,941

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

For the years ended December
31,

(In thousands) 2018 2017 2016

Net income (loss): $35,728 $(33,933) $13,151
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax (benefit)/expense of ($4,433),
$4,616, and ($1,473), respectively (7,249 ) 26,637 (11,937 )

Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities, net of tax expense of $0, $0, and $0,
respectively — 1 20

Unrealized gain on derivatives, net of tax expense of $73, $320, and $0, respectively 10 965 —
Total other comprehensive income (loss) (7,239 ) 27,603 (11,917 )
Comprehensive income (loss) 28,489 (6,330 ) 1,234

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended December
31,

(In thousands) 2018 2017 2016
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $35,728 $(33,933) $13,151
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 31,444 34,255 37,651
Amortization of intangibles 39,457 38,056 34,634
Deferred income taxes (4,809 ) 74,577 12,058
Amortization of deferred customer acquisition costs 10,287 — —
Change in contingent consideration — — (16,472 )
Allowance for doubtful accounts and obsolete inventory 2,010 2,399 1,642
Amortization of debt issuance costs 1,022 1,074 1,080
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 79 212 —
Loss on extinguishment of debt 14 — —
Share-based expense 33,799 37,482 40,682
Gain on sale of business — (1,879 ) —
Change in derivatives (198 ) — —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable (20,485 ) (7,253 ) (9,642 )
Inventory 1,233 789 800
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,787 3,339 (10,182 )
Deferred customer acquisition costs (25,439 ) 1,729 1,357
Accounts payable 20,099 (664 ) (13,604 )
Accrued expenses (6,597 ) (23,361 ) 6,090
Deferred revenue 1,416 (2,584 ) (2,126 )
Other assets and liabilities 1,358 3,820 (3,663 )
Net cash provided by operating activities 123,205 128,058 93,456
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (19,032 ) (21,915 ) (26,146 )
Purchase of intangible assets — — (50 )
Purchase of marketable securities — — (5,664 )
Maturities and sales of marketable securities — 602 14,991
Acquisition and development of software assets (7,714 ) (11,374 ) (11,538 )
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired (380,484) — (163,042)
Proceeds from sale of business — 1,950 —
Net cash used in investing activities (407,230) (30,737 ) (191,449)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Principal payments on capital lease obligations and other financing obligations (140 ) (5,788 ) (8,583 )
Principal payments on term notes and revolving credit facilities (320,188) (101,750 ) (72,812 )
Proceeds received from issuance of revolving credit facilities and term notes 607,000 15,000 181,250
Payment of debt issuance costs (3,380 ) — (1,316 )
Common stock repurchases — (9,542 ) (32,902 )
Employee taxes paid on withholding shares (31,584 ) (15,572 ) (6,444 )
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 6,504 21,410 8,861
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Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities 258,212 (96,242 ) 68,054
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (410 ) 1,319 555
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (26,223 ) 2,398 (29,384 )
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, beginning of period 33,327 30,929 60,313
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of period $7,104 $33,327 $30,929

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In thousands) Shares
Outstanding

Common
Stock

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Treasury
Stock

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income

Total

Balance at December 31, 2015 214,280 $ 270 $1,224,947$ (655,020 )$(179,779)$ (1,677 ) $388,741
Stock option exercises 6,548 5 8,856 8,861
Share-based expense 40,682 40,682
Employee taxes paid on withholding
shares (1,250 ) (6,444 ) (6,444 )

Common stock repurchases (7,400 ) (32,902 ) (32,902 )
Acquisition of business 6,823 7 36,362 36,369
Foreign currency translation
adjustment (11,937 ) (11,937 )

Unrealized loss on available-for-sale
securities 20 20

Net income 13,151 13,151
Balance at December 31, 2016 219,001 282 1,310,847 (641,869 ) (219,125 )(13,594 ) 436,541
Cumulative effect adjustment upon
the adoption of ASU 2016-09 5,668 3,241 8,909

Stock option exercises 15,856 16 21,394 21,410
Share-based expense 37,482 37,482
Employee taxes paid on withholding
shares (2,319 ) (15,572 ) (15,572 )

Common stock repurchases (1,599 ) (9,542 ) (9,542 )
Foreign currency translation
adjustment 26,637 26,637

Unrealized loss on available-for-sale
securities 1 1

Unrealized gain on derivatives 965 965
Net loss (33,933 ) (33,933 )
Balance at December 31, 2017 230,939 298 1,375,391 (672,561 ) (244,239 )14,009 472,898
Cumulative effect adjustment upon
the adoption of Topic 606 24,848 24,848

Stock option exercises 11,562 12 6,492 6,504
Share-based expense 33,799 33,799
Employee taxes paid on withholding
shares (2,758 ) (30,770 ) (30,770 )

Foreign currency translation
adjustment (7,249 ) (7,249 )

Unrealized gain on derivatives 10 10
Net income 35,728 35,728
Balance at December 31, 2018 239,743 $ 310 $1,415,682$ (611,985 )$(275,009)$ 6,770 $535,768

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Note 1. Nature of Business

Nature of Operations
Vonage Holdings Corp. (“Vonage”, “Company”, “we”, “our”, “us”) is incorporated as a Delaware corporation. At Vonage, we
are redefining business communications. We are embracing technology to transform how businesses communicate to
create better business outcomes. Our cloud communications platform enables businesses of all sizes to collaborate
more productively and engage their customers more efficiently across any device. All of our cloud communications
solutions are designed to allow businesses to be more productive by integrating communications with all their existing
business productivity tools and our programmable solutions allow customers to engage with their customers via
embedded voice, chat, or messaging to create seamless and contextual communications that makes doing business
easier for end customers.
For our business customers, we provide innovative, cloud-based Unified Communications as a Service, or UCaaS,
solutions, comprised of integrated voice, text, video, data, collaboration, and mobile applications over our flexible,
scalable Session Initiation Protocol, or SIP, based Voice over Internet Protocol, or VoIP, network. We also offer
Communications Platform as a Service, or CPaaS, solutions designed to enhance the way businesses communicate
with their customers by embedding communications into apps, websites and business processes. With the acquisition
of NewVoiceMedia on October 31, 2018, Vonage also provides customers with a robust CCaaS offering, driving
intelligent interactions for customers through emerging technologies such as skills-based routing, real-time sentiment
analysis and chatbots. NewVoiceMedia's cloud contact center solution, combined with Vonage's offering, provides an
end-to-end communications experience for enhanced customer engagement and conversation. In combination, our
products and services permit our business customers to communicate with their customers and employees through any
cloud-connected device, in any place, at any time without the often costly investment required with on-site equipment.
We also provide a robust suite of feature-rich residential communication solutions that allow consumers to connect
their home phones and mobile phones on one number and we offer attractive international long distance rates that help
create a loyal base of satisfied customers.
Customers in the United States represented 79%, 85%, and 91% of our consolidated revenues for the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively, with the balance in Canada, the United Kingdom, China,
Singapore, Netherlands, and other countries around the world. 

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The Accounting Standards
Codification, ASC, established by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, FASB, is the source of authoritative
GAAP to be applied to nongovernmental entities. In addition, the rules and interpretive releases of the Securities and
Exchange Commission, SEC, under the authority of federal securities laws are also sources of authoritative GAAP for
SEC registrants.
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts and operations of Vonage and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries for which we have a controlling interest. All intercompany balances and transactions have been
eliminated in consolidation. The usual condition for a controlling financial interest is ownership of a majority of the
voting interests of an entity; however, a controlling financial interest may also exist through arrangements that do not
involve controlling voting interests. As such, Vonage applies the guidance of ASC 810, Consolidations, or ASC 810,
to determine when an entity that is insufficiently capitalized or not controlled through its voting interests, referred to
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as a VIE, should be consolidated. In addition, the results of companies acquired or disposed of are included in the
consolidated financial statements from the effective date of the acquisition or up to the date of disposal.
Revenue Recognition    
On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted the guidance of ASU 2014-09, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Topic 606), or Topic 606, using the modified retrospective method applied to those contracts which were not
completed as of January 1, 2018. Our results for reporting periods beginning after January 1, 2018 are presented in
accordance with the provisions under Topic 606.
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Upon our adoption of Topic 606, we measure revenue based upon consideration specified by contracts with our
customers. Revenue is recognized when our performance obligation under the contract is satisfied by transferring
control over the product or service to the customer. We derive our revenues for our Consumer and Business segments
primarily from the sale of our communication services and customer equipment as further described in Note 3,
Revenue Recognition. The majority of the Company's contracts with customers have a single performance obligation
for service revenues. We recognize revenue with customers when control transfers, which occurs upon delivery of a
service or product. For our Business segment, the typical life of a customer for service is six years. The adoption of
Topic 606 did not result in a change in the timing of how the Company recognizes revenue.
Contract Acquisition Costs
We have various commission programs for which eligible employees and third parties may earn commission on sales
of services and products to customers. We expect that these commission fees are recoverable and, therefore, we have
capitalized these commissions as contract costs included within deferred customer acquisitions cost on our
consolidated balance sheet. Capitalized commission fees are amortized to sales and marketing expense over estimated
customer life, which is six years for Business customers. In addition, the Company expenses sales commissions for
commission plans related to customer arrangements deemed less than a year and for residuals and renewals.
Cost of Revenues
Cost of revenues is primarily comprised of cost of services consisting of costs that we pay to third parties such as
access and interconnection charges that we pay to other companies to terminate domestic and international phone calls
on the public switched telephone network. In addition, costs to lease phone numbers, to co-locate in other companies’
facilities, to provide enhanced emergency dialing capabilities to transmit 911 calls, and to provide local number
portability are also included in cost of service. These costs also include taxes that we pay on telecommunications
services from our suppliers or are imposed by government agencies such as USF contributions and royalties for use of
third parties’ intellectual property. In addition, these costs include certain personnel and related costs for network
operations and technical support that are attributable to revenue generating activities. Cost of services excludes
depreciation and amortization expense of $27,754, $27,308, and $28,489 for the years ended December 31, 2018,
2017, and 2016, respectively.
Also included in cost of revenues is costs of goods sold consisting primarily of costs incurred on customer equipment
for customers who subscribe through the direct sales channel in excess of activation fees. The amortization of deferred
customer equipment, the cost of shipping and handling for customer equipment, and the cost of certain promotions are
also included in cost of goods sold.
We categorize cost of revenues as follows:
Services cost of revenues. Services cost of revenues consists of costs associated with network operations and technical
support personnel, communication origination, and termination services provided by third party carriers and excludes
depreciation and amortization.
Access and product cost of revenues. Product cost of revenues includes equipment sold to customers, shipping and
handling, professional services, cost of certain products including equipment or services that we give customers as
promotions, and broadband access.
USF cost of revenues. USF cost of revenues represents contributions to the Federal USF and related fees.

Sales and Marketing Expenses
Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of personnel and related costs for employees and contractors directly
associated with our sales and marketing activities, internet advertising fees, radio and billboard advertising, public
relations, commissions paid to employees, resellers and other third parties, trade shows, marketing and promotional
activities, customer support, credit card fees, collections, and systems and information technology support. We
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expense advertising costs during the period in which they are incurred. Advertising costs included in sales and
marketing were $54,735, $57,703, and $75,587 for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively.
Engineering and Development Expenses
Engineering and development expenses predominantly include personnel and related costs for developers responsible
for research and development of new products.
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Costs for research, including predevelopment efforts prior to establishing technological feasibility of software
expected to be marketed, are expensed as incurred.
Development costs are capitalized when technological feasibility has been established and anticipated future revenues
support the recoverability of the capitalized amounts. Capitalization stops when the product is available for general
release to customers.
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities
We maintain cash with several investment grade financial institutions. Highly liquid investments, which are readily
convertible into cash, with original maturities of three months or less, are recorded as cash equivalents. The following
table provides a reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the consolidated
balance sheet to same such amounts show in the consolidated statement of cash flows:

As of December 31,
2018 2017 2016 2015

Cash and cash equivalents $5,057$31,360$29,078$57,726
Restricted cash 2,047 1,967 1,851 2,587

$7,104$33,327$30,929$60,313
Certain Risks and Concentrations
Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash equivalents,
marketable securities, and accounts receivable. They are subject to fluctuations in both market value and yield based
upon changes in market conditions, including interest rates, liquidity, general economic conditions, and conditions
specific to the issuers. Accounts receivable are typically unsecured and are derived from revenues earned from
customers primarily located in the United States. A portion of our accounts receivable represents the timing difference
between when a customer’s credit card is billed and the subsequent settlement of that transaction with our credit card
processors. This timing difference is generally three days for substantially all of our credit card receivables. We have
never experienced any accounts receivable write-offs due to this timing difference. In addition, we collect subscription
fees in advance, minimizing our accounts receivable and bad debt exposure. If a customer’s credit card, debit card or
ECP is declined, we generally suspend international calling capabilities as well as their ability to incur domestic usage
charges in excess of their plan minutes. Generally, if the customer’s credit card, debit card or ECP could not be
successfully processed during three billing cycles, we terminate the account. In addition, we automatically charge any
per minute fees to our customers’ credit card, debit card or ECP monthly in arrears. To further mitigate our bad debt
exposure, a customer’s credit card, debit card or ECP will be charged in advance of their monthly billing if their
international calling or overage charges exceed a certain dollar threshold.
Inventory
Inventory consists of the cost of customer equipment and is valued at the lower of cost or market, with cost
determined using the average cost method. We provide an inventory allowance for customer equipment that has been
returned by customers but may not be able to be reissued to new customers or returned to the manufacturer for credit. 
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment includes acquired assets and those accounted for under capital leases and consist principally
of network equipment and computer hardware, software, furniture, and leasehold improvements. Company-owned
equipment in use at customer premises is also included in property and equipment. Network equipment, computer
hardware and furniture are stated at cost with depreciation provided using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the related assets, which range from three to five years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over
their estimated useful life of the related assets or the life of the lease, whichever is shorter. The cost of substantial
improvements is capitalized while the cost of maintenance and repairs is charged to operating expenses as incurred.
Company-owned customer premises equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over three years.
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Our network equipment and computer hardware, which consists of routers, gateways, and servers that enable our
services, is subject to technological risks and rapid market changes due to new products and services and changing
customer demand. These changes may result in future adjustments to the estimated useful lives or the carrying value
of these assets, or both.
Software Costs
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We capitalize certain costs, such as purchased software and internally developed software that we use for customer
acquisition and customer care automation tools, in accordance with FASB ASC 350-40, Internal-Use Software.
Computer software is stated at cost less accumulated amortization and the estimated useful life is two to five years.
Goodwill
In accordance with ASC 350, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other, we recognize goodwill for the excess cost of an
acquired business over the fair value assigned to assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Goodwill is tested for
impairment on an annual basis on October 1st and, when specific circumstances dictate, between annual tests. When
impaired, the carrying value of goodwill is written down to fair value. The goodwill impairment test permits
evaluating qualitative information to determine if it is more than 50% likely that the fair value of a reporting unit is
less than its carrying value. If such a determination is made that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the
reporting unit is less than its carrying value or if an entity chooses not to perform a qualitative assessment, then the
traditional two-step goodwill impairment test described below must be applied. The first step, identifying a potential
impairment, compares the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the carrying
value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the second step would need to be conducted; otherwise, no further
steps are necessary as no potential impairment exists. The second step, measuring the impairment loss, compares the
implied fair value of the reporting unit goodwill with the carrying amount of that goodwill. Any excess of the
reporting unit goodwill carrying value over the respective implied fair value is recognized as an impairment loss.
There was no impairment of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016.
Intangible Assets
Intangible assets acquired in the settlement of litigation or by direct purchase are accounted for based upon the fair
value of assets received.
Purchased-intangible assets are accounted for based upon the fair value of assets received and are amortized on a
straight-line or accelerated basis over the periods of economic benefit, ranging from two to twelve years. We perform
a review of purchased-intangible assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the useful life is
shorter than we had originally estimated or that the carrying amount of assets may not be recoverable. If such facts
and circumstances exist, we assess the recoverability of purchased-intangible assets by comparing the projected
undiscounted net cash flows associated with the related asset or group of assets over their remaining lives against their
respective carrying amounts. Impairments, if any, are based on the excess of the carrying amount over the fair value of
those assets. If the useful life of the asset is shorter than originally estimated, we accelerate the rate of amortization
and amortize the remaining carrying value over the new shorter useful life. There was no impairment of
purchased-intangible assets identified for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016.
Asset Impairments
We evaluate impairment losses on long-lived assets used in operations when events and changes in circumstances
indicate that the assets might be impaired. If our review indicates that the carrying value of an asset will not be
recoverable, based on a comparison of the carrying value of the asset to the undiscounted future cash flows, the
impairment will be measured by comparing the carrying value of the asset to its fair value. Fair value will be
determined based on quoted market values, discounted cash flows or appraisals. Impairments of property and
equipment are recorded in the statement of operations as part of depreciation and amortization expense. There was no
impairment of property and equipment identified for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016.
Debt Related Costs
Costs incurred in raising debt are deferred and amortized as interest expense using the effective interest method over
the life of the debt. Costs associated with term loans are netted against the underlying notes payable in accordance
with ASU 2015-15, "Interest-Imputation of Interest" while costs deferred associated with revolving facilities are
included in other assets. Upon refinancing, costs associated with the new debt are either expensed or deferred and
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unamortized costs associated with the old debt are either written off or deferred and to be amortized as interest
expense if deferred using the effective interest method over the life of the new debt per the guidance in ASC 470-50.
Restricted Cash and Letters of Credit
We had a cash collateralized letter of credit for $1,516 and $1,563 as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively,
mainly related to lease deposits for our Holmdel office. In the aggregate, cash reserves and collateralized letters of
credit of $2,047 and $1,967 were recorded as long-term restricted cash at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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Derivative Financial Instruments
The Company accounts for derivative financial instruments under ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, which requires
the Company to record all derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value unless they qualify for a normal purchase
normal sale exception. Changes in the fair value of non-hedge derivatives are immediately recognized into earnings.
Changes in the fair value of derivatives accounted for as hedges, if elected for hedge accounting, are either recognized
in earnings as an offset to the changes in the fair value of the related hedged assets and liabilities or deferred and
recognized as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income, or OCI, until the hedged transactions occur
and are recognized in earnings.
During 2017, the Company entered into three interest rate swap agreements to mitigate variability in our 2016 Credit
Facility earnings due to fluctuations in interest rates and has been designated and qualified as a cash flow hedge. Upon
the refinancing in 2018, the Company de-designated the swaps of our 2016 Credit Facility and re-designated the
swaps as a cash flow hedge of the 2018 Credit Facility. As such, the balances in Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Income related to de-designated 2016 Credit Facility cash flow hedge were either released into earnings or continue to
be deferred and amortized over the remaining life of the 2018 Credit Facility. The Company assesses hedge
effectiveness under the critical terms matched method at inception and at least quarterly through the life of the
hedging relationship. If the critical terms of the interest rate swap match the terms of the forecasted transaction, the
Company concludes that the hedge is effective.
Income Taxes
We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities at enacted income tax rates for the temporary differences between the
financial reporting bases and the tax bases of our assets and liabilities. Any effects of changes in income tax rates or
tax laws are included in the provision for income taxes in the period of enactment. Our net deferred tax assets
primarily consist of net operating loss carry forwards, or NOLs. We are required to record a valuation allowance
against our net deferred tax assets if we conclude that it is more likely than not that taxable income generated in the
future will be insufficient to utilize the future income tax benefit from our net deferred tax assets prior to expiration.
We periodically review this conclusion, which requires significant management judgment. If we are able to conclude
in a future period that a future income tax benefit from our net deferred tax assets has a greater than 50% likelihood of
being realized, we are required in that period to reduce the related valuation allowance with a corresponding decrease
in income tax expense. This would result in a non-cash benefit to our net income in the period of the determination. In
the future, if available evidence changes our conclusion that it is more likely than not that we will utilize our net
deferred tax assets prior to their expiration, we will make an adjustment to the related valuation allowance and income
tax expense at that time. In subsequent periods, we would expect to recognize income tax expense equal to our pre-tax
income multiplied by our effective income tax rate, an expense that was not recognized prior to the reduction of the
valuation allowance. Our effective rate may differ from the federal statutory rate due, in part, to our foreign operations
and certain discrete period items.
On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, or TCJA, was signed into law by the President of the United
States. The TCJA most notably reduces the corporate tax rate from 35% to 21% along with eliminating the alternative
minimum tax, or AMT, and imposing a mandatory one-time tax on foreign earnings. Under ASC 740, Income Taxes,
an entity is required to recognize the effect of tax law changes during the period of enactment. As such, the Company
will be reflecting the impact of this law within its December 31, 2017 financial statements. Due to the complexities of
the new legislation and associated accounting considerations, SEC SAB 118 provided for an entity to utilize a
provisional estimate within its financial statements for the impact of the TCJA. As permitted under SEC SAB 118, the
Company recorded a provisional charge to income tax expense of $69,378 related to the re-measurement of the
Company’s deferred tax balances at the 21% income tax rate in its December 31, 2017 statement of operations. The
Company has determined that the provisional charge previously recorded in its December 31, 2017 financial
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statements is final and no further adjustments are required.
We file income tax returns in the U.S. for federal and state purposes and in various foreign jurisdictions. Our federal
tax return remains subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service from 2015 to present, our New Jersey tax
returns remain open from 2014 to present, our Canada tax return remains open from 2015 to present, and other
domestic and foreign tax returns remain open for all periods to which those filings relate. The Company received
notice that the State of New Jersey will commence an income tax audit for the tax years ended December 31, 2014
through December 31, 2017. We recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than
not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the
position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such a position are measured based on the
largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate resolution.
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Business Combinations
We account for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting. The acquisition method of
accounting requires that the purchase price, including the fair value of contingent consideration, of the acquisition be
allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed using the fair values determined by management as of the
acquisition date. Goodwill as of the acquisition date is measured as the excess of consideration transferred over the net
of the acquisition date fair values of assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. While the Company uses its best
estimates and assumptions as part of the purchase price allocation process to accurately value assets acquired and
liabilities assumed at the acquisition date, the Company’s estimates are inherently uncertain and subject to refinement.
As a result, during the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the acquisition date, the Company
records adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with the corresponding offset to goodwill to the
extent the Company identifies adjustments to the preliminary purchase price allocation. Upon the conclusion of the
measurement period or final determination of the values of assets acquired or liabilities assumed, whichever comes
first, any subsequent adjustments are recorded to the consolidated statements of operations. We include the results of
all acquisitions in our consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition.
Acquisition related transaction costs, such as banking, legal, accounting and other costs incurred in connection with an
acquisition, are expensed as incurred in general and administrative expense.
Acquisition related integration costs include costs associated with exit or disposal activities, which do not meet the
criteria of discontinued operations, including costs for employee, lease, and contract terminations, facility closing or
other exit activities. Additionally, these costs include expenses directly related to integrating and reorganizing
acquired businesses and include items such as employee retention costs, recruiting costs, certain moving costs, certain
duplicative costs during integration and asset impairments. These costs are expensed as incurred in general and
administrative expense.
Acquisition related consideration accounted for as compensation expense, such as restricted cash, restricted stock and
option related costs incurred in connection with an acquisition are included in general and administrative expense.
Foreign Currency
Generally, the functional currency of our non-United States subsidiaries is the local currency. However, the functional
currency of Nexmo's United States's subsidiary is the Euro. The financial statements of these subsidiaries are
translated to their respective functional currency using month-end rates of exchange for assets and liabilities, and
average rates of exchange for revenues, costs, and expenses. Translation gains and losses from the Company's net
investments in subsidiaries are deferred and recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income as a component of
stockholders’ equity until sale or complete or substantially complete liquidation of the net investment in the foreign
entity takes place. Foreign currency transaction gains or losses are reported within other income/(expense), net in the
Company's consolidated statements of operations. For the year ended December 31, 2018, the amount recognized as
foreign currency transaction gain was $145 and for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, amounts recognized
as foreign currency transaction losses were $620 and $346, respectively.
Share-Based Compensation
We account for share-based compensation in accordance with FASB ASC 718, “Compensation-Stock Compensation”.
Under the fair value recognition provisions of this pronouncement, share-based compensation cost is measured at the
grant date based on the fair value of the award and is recognized as expense over the applicable vesting period of the
stock award on a straight-line basis. On January 1, 2017, the Company adopted ASU 2016-09, "Improvements to
Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting".  Previously, excess tax benefits were recognized in additional paid-in
capital on the consolidated balance sheet to the extent they reduced income taxes payable.  Beginning in 2017, any
excess tax benefits or shortfalls are recorded in income taxes upon vest or exercise.  During the years ended December
31, 2018 and 2017, the Company recorded a net benefit of $16 million and $11 million, respectively, related to excess
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Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net income (loss) and other comprehensive items. Other comprehensive
items include unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives, foreign currency translation adjustments, and unrealized gains
(losses) on available-for-sale securities.
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Use of Estimates
Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States, which require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts of assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
We base our estimates on historical experience, available market information, appropriate valuation methodologies,
and on various other assumptions that we believed to be reasonable, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities. Estimates are used for such items as depreciable lives for
long-lived assets including intangible assets, tax provisions, uncollectible accounts, and assets and liabilities assumed
in business combinations, among others. In addition, estimates are used to test long-lived assets and goodwill for
impairment.
Reclassifications
Reclassifications have been made to our consolidated financial statements for the prior year periods to conform to
classification used in the current year period. The reclassifications did not affect results from operations or net assets.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In January 2017, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2017-04, "Intangibles - Goodwill and
Other". The ASU simplifies the subsequent measurement of goodwill and eliminates Step 2 from the goodwill
impairment test. This ASU is effective for an annual or any interim goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2019 on a prospective basis. Early adoption is permitted for interim or annual goodwill
impairment tests performed on testing dates after January 1, 2017. The adoption of ASU 2017-04 is not expected have
a material impact on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
In February 2016, FASB issued ASU 2016-02, "Leases (Topic 842)". The new Accounting Standards Codification
("ASC") Topic 842 replaces existing guidance on accounting for leases in Topic 840. The new guidance increases
transparency and comparability among organizations by requiring lessees to recognize assets and liabilities on the
balance sheet for most leases and disclose key information about leasing arrangements. This ASU is effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is
permitted for all entities. FASB issued ASU 2018-10, “Codification Improvements to Topic 842, Leases” and ASU
2018-11, “Leases (Topic 842): Targeted Improvements” in July 2018, and ASU 2018-20, "Leases (Topic 842):
Narrow-Scope Improvements for lessors" in December 2018, all of which affect narrow aspects of the guidance issued
in ASU 2016-02. ASU 2018-11 provides an additional (and optional) transition method upon adoption of ASU
2016-02 to initially apply the new lease standard at the adoption date by recognizing a cumulative-effect adjustment to
the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of adoption in lieu of the comparative reporting initially
required under ASU 2016-02 and ASU 2018-20 improves certain guidelines on lessor accounting.
The Company will adopt the new standard on January 1, 2019 using a modified retrospective transition approach,
which involves applying the new standard to all leases existing at the date of the initial application. In addition, we
have elected the package of practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance which allows the Company to
carry forward the historical lease classification. We have substantially completed our evaluation of impacts of Topic
842 on our financial statements and internal controls over financial reporting. The adoption of Topic 842 will have a
significant effect on our balance sheet, mostly related to (1) the recognition of new right-of-use assets and new lease
liabilities on our balance sheet for our existing operating leases (most notably leases of office space and co-location
space); and (2) the derecognition of existing assets (most notably prepaid rent), and existing liabilities (most notably
deferred rent) related to such leases. It will not materially affect our earnings or cash flows. On adoption, we expect
to:
•Recognize currently unrecognized right-of-use assets of approximately $55 million to $65 million.
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•Recognize currently unrecognized lease liabilities of approximately $60 million to $70 million (based on the presentvalue of the remaining minimum rental payments for existing operating leases).
•Recognize no adjustment to retained earnings.
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The following standards were adopted by the Company during the current year:
In August 2018, FASB issued ASU 2018-15, “Intangibles - Goodwill and Other - Internal-Use Software (Subtopic
350-40): Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a
Service Contract (a consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force)”. Under this ASU, a customer in a cloud
computing arrangement that is a service contract would look to existing guidance for internal-use software under ASC
350-40 to determine whether implementation costs incurred under such arrangement may be capitalized and
subsequently amortized over the periods covered under any applicable renewal options that are reasonably certain to
be exercised. In addition, the guidance in this ASU also require the entity to present the expense related to the
capitalized implementation costs in the same line item in the statement of income as the fees associated with the
hosting element (service) of the arrangement and classify payments for capitalized implementation costs in the
statement of cash flows in the same manner as payments made for fees associated with the hosting element. The entity
is also required to present the capitalized implementation costs in the statement of financial position in the same line
item that a prepayment for the fees of the associated hosting arrangement would be presented. The amendments in this
ASU are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods within those fiscal years.
Early adoption of the amendments in this ASU is permitted, including adoption in any interim period. The
amendments in this ASU should be applied either retrospectively or prospectively to all implementation costs incurred
after the date of adoption. The Company early adopted this ASU during the third quarter of 2018 on a retrospective
basis and began capitalizing implementation costs associated with cloud computing arrangements entered into that are
service contracts. The adoption of this ASU did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements
and related disclosures.
In October 2016, FASB issued ASU 2016-16, "Income Taxes". This ASU improves the accounting for income tax
consequences of intra-entity transfers of assets other than inventory. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2017 on a modified retrospective basis through a cumulative-effect adjustment directly to retained
earnings as of the beginning of the period of adoption. We adopted this ASU on January 1, 2018 and the adoption of
this ASU did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
In August 2016, FASB issued ASU 2016-15, "Statement of Cash Flows". This ASU addresses eight specific cash flow
issues with the objective of reducing the existing diversity in practice. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2017 on a retrospective basis. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in an interim period.
We adopted this ASU on January 1, 2018 and the adoption of this ASU did not have a material impact on our
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
In May 2014, FASB issued ASU 2014-09, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)". This ASU, as
amended, provided comprehensive guidance on the recognition of revenue from contracts with customers arising from
the transfer of goods and services, guidance on accounting for certain contract costs and new disclosures. Topic 606
also amends the current guidance for the recognition of costs to obtain and fulfill contracts with customers requiring
that all incremental costs of obtaining and direct costs of fulfilling contracts with customers such as commissions be
deferred and recognized over the expected customer life. On January 1, 2018, we adopted this ASU. Refer to Note 3.
Revenue Recognition for related disclosures required upon adoption.
In August 2017, FASB issued ASU 2017-12, "Derivatives and Hedging". The ASU improves the financial reporting
of hedging relationships to better portray the economic results of an entity's risk management activities in its financial
statements and simplifies the application of the hedge accounting guidance in current generally accepted accounting
principles ("GAAP"). It also amends the disclosures requirements by requiring a tabular disclosure related to the effect
on the statement of operations of fair value and cash flow hedges and eliminating the ineffective portion of the change
in fair value of hedging instrument disclosures. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2018, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted in any interim period after issuance
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and is applied to hedging relationships existing on the date of adoption. We adopted ASU 2017-12 during the third
quarter of 2018 and the adoption did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements and related
disclosures.
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Note 3.  Revenue Recognition

On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted the guidance of ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
using the modified retrospective method applied to those contracts which were not completed as of January 1, 2018.
Our results for reporting periods beginning after January 1, 2018 are presented in accordance with the provisions
under Topic 606 but any prior period amounts have not been adjusted and continue to be reported in accordance with
our revenue recognition policy as further described in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies. In
connection with our adoption of Topic 606, we recognized a net increase to opening retained earnings of $24,848, net
of tax, as of January 1, 2018 related to commissions paid associated with the acquisition of business customers and
associated deferred tax liability.
Service Revenues
Substantially all of our revenues are service revenues, which are derived from monthly subscription fees under usage
based or pay-per-use type billing arrangements, and contract-based services plans. For consumer customers in the
United States, we offer domestic and international rate plans, including a variety of residential plans and mobile plans.
For business customers, we offer small and medium business, mid-market, and enterprise customers several service
plans with different pricing structures and contractual requirements ranging in duration from month-to-month to three
years. In addition, we provide managed equipment to business customers for a monthly fee. Customers also have the
opportunity to purchase premium features for additional fees. We also derive service revenues from per minute fees
for international calls if not covered under a plan, including calls made via applications for mobile devices and other
stand-alone products, and for any calling minutes in excess of a customer's monthly plan limits. For a portion of our
customers, monthly subscription fees are automatically charged to customers' credit cards, debit cards or electronic
check payments ("ECP"), in advance and are recognized over the following month as service is provided.
Service revenue also includes supplying messaging (SMS and Voice) services to customers as part of our CPaaS
offerings. Revenue is recognized in the period when messages are sent by the customer. We also transact with
providers or bulk SMS aggregators and sell services to these customers who then onsell to their customers. Since the
aggregator is our customer, revenue is recognized on a gross basis with related costs included in cost of revenues.
In the United States, we charge regulatory, compliance, E-911 and intellectual property-related fees on a monthly
basis to defray costs and to cover taxes that we are charged by the suppliers of telecommunications services. These
charges, along with the remittance to the relevant government entity, are recorded on a net basis. In addition, we
charge customers Federal Universal Service Fund ("USF") fees from customers to recover our obligation to contribute
to the fund, as allowed by the Federal Communications Commission ("FCC"). We recognize USF revenue on a gross
basis and record the related fees in cost of revenues.
Customer Equipment and Shipping Revenues
Revenues are generated from sales of customer equipment directly to customers for replacement devices, or for
upgrading their device at the time of customer sign-up for which we charge an additional fee. In addition, customer
equipment and shipping revenues include revenues from the sale of VoIP telephones in order to access our small and
medium business services. Customer equipment and shipping revenues also include the fees that customers are
charged for shipping their customer equipment to them.
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Disaggregation of Revenue
The following tables detail our revenue from customers disaggregated by primary geographical market, source of
revenue, and timing of revenue recognition. The table also includes a reconciliation of the disaggregated revenue for
our Business and Consumer segments.

For the years ended December
31,
December 31, 2018
Business Consumer Total

Primary geographical markets
United States $421,239 $404,482 $825,721
Canada 3,549 23,718 27,267
United Kingdom 36,992 12,438 49,430
Other Countries 146,364 — 146,364

608,144 440,638 1,048,782
Major Sources of Revenue
Service revenues $526,707 $394,389 $921,096
Access and product revenues 50,068 559 50,627
USF revenues 31,369 45,690 77,059

608,144 440,638 1,048,782
In addition, the Company recognizes service revenues from its customers through subscription services provided or
through usage or pay-per-use type arrangements. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company recognized
$607,823 related to subscription services, $247,256 related to usage, and $193,703 related to other revenues such as
USF, other regulatory fees, and credits.
Contract Assets and Liabilities
The following table provides information about receivables and contract liabilities from contracts with customers:

December 31,
2018

Receivables (1) $ 75,342
Contract liabilities (2) 53,447
(1) Amounts included in accounts receivables on our consolidated balance sheet.
(2) Amounts included in deferred revenues on our consolidated balance sheet.
Our deferred revenue represents the advance consideration received from customers for subscription services and is
predominantly recognized over the following month as transfer of control occurs. During the year ended
December 31, 2018, the Company recognized revenue of $445,547 related to its contract liabilities. We expect to
recognize $53,447 into revenue over the next twelve months related to our deferred revenue as of December 31, 2018.
Contract Acquisition Costs
We have various commission programs for which eligible employees and third parties may earn commission on sales
of services and products to customers. We expect that these commission fees are recoverable and, therefore, we have
capitalized $49,636 (net of accumulated amortization) and $34,484 as contract costs as of December 31, 2018 and
January 1, 2018, respectively, included within deferred customer acquisitions costs, current and deferred customer
acquisition costs on our consolidated balance sheet. In addition, we established a deferred tax liability associated with
the transition asset of $9,636. Capitalized commission fees are amortized to sales and marketing expense over the
estimated customer life, which is six years for Business customers. During the year ended December 31, 2018, the
amounts amortized to sales and marketing were $10,287 and there were no impairment losses recognized in relation to
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arrangements deemed less than a year and for residuals and renewals.
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Note 4. Earnings Per Share

Earnings (loss) per share has been computed according to FASB ASC 260, “Earnings per Share”, which requires a dual
presentation of basic and diluted earnings per share, or EPS. Basic EPS represents net income or loss divided by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding during a reporting period. Diluted EPS reflects the potential
dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock, including stock options and restricted
stock units under our 2001 Stock Incentive Plan and 2006 Incentive Plan were exercised or converted into common
stock. The dilutive effect of outstanding, stock options and restricted stock units is reflected in diluted earnings per
share by application of the treasury stock method. In applying the treasury stock method for stock-based compensation
arrangements, the assumed proceeds are computed as the sum of the amount the employee must pay upon exercise and
the amounts of average unrecognized compensation cost attributed to future services.
The following table sets forth the computation for basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share:

For the years ended
December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Numerator
Net income (Loss) $35,728 $(33,933) $13,151

Denominator
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 237,499 225,311 215,751
Dilutive effect of stock options and restricted stock units 11,393 — 16,190
Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding 248,892 225,311 231,941
Basic earnings (loss) per share
Basic earnings (loss) per share $0.15 $(0.15 ) $0.06
Diluted earnings (loss) per share
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $0.14 $(0.15 ) $0.06

The following shares were excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings (loss) per share because of their
anti-dilutive effects:

For the years ended
December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Restricted stock units 3,285 11,928 8,282
Employee stock options 1,163 10,448 9,030

4,448 22,376 17,312
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Note 5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill

The Company's goodwill is derived primarily from the acquisitions of Vocalocity, Telesphere, iCore, Simple Signal,
Nexmo, TokBox and NewVoiceMedia which are included in the Company's Business segment. The following table
provides a summary of the changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill:
Balance at January 1, 2017 $360,363
Decrease in goodwill related to finalization of acquisition accounting for Nexmo (5,482 )
Foreign currency translation adjustment 18,883
Balance at December 31, 2017 373,764
Increase in goodwill related to acquisition of TokBox 20,650
Increase in goodwill related to acquisition of NewVoiceMedia 210,992
Foreign currency translation adjustment (6,907 )
Balance at December 31, 2018 $598,499

The performance of the Company's annual impairment analysis did not result in any impairments of goodwill for the
years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively.

Intangible assets, net

The Company's intangible assets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 primarily reflect intangible assets established
with the acquisitions of various companies such as customer relationships, trade names and developed technology. In
addition, the Company's intangible assets include patents we have purchased and licensed, including in connection
with the settlement of litigation.

December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Useful
Lives

Gross
Carrying
Value

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Value

Gross
Carrying
Value

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Value

Customer relationships 7to12years$272,226$ (84,339 ) $187,887 $184,465$ (62,072 ) $122,393
Developed technology 3to10years162,316 (57,948 ) 104,368 90,417 (44,413 ) 46,004
Patents and patent licenses 3to5 years20,214 (17,700 ) 2,514 20,214 (16,184 ) 4,030
Trade names 2to5 years6,952 (1,947 ) 5,005 1,708 (1,356 ) 352
Non-compete agreements 3 years991 (854 ) 137 1,039 (548 ) 491
Total finite-lived intangible assets $462,699$ (162,788 ) $299,911 $297,843$ (124,573 ) $173,270
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During the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, the Company recorded amortization expense of $39,457,
$38,056 and $34,634, respectively. Amortization expense may vary in the future as acquisitions, dispositions and
impairments, if any, occur. The total expected future annual amortization for the succeeding five years ended
December 31 is as follows:

Estimated
Amortization
Expense

2019$ 57,103
202048,973
202143,361
202238,370
202331,932

Note 6. Income Taxes

The components of income before income taxes are as follows: 
For the years ended
December 31,
2018 2017 2016

United States $31,205 $39,370 $31,076
Foreign 5,320 6,423 (231 )

$36,525 $45,793 $30,845

The income tax expense consisted of the following amounts:
For the years ended December
31,
2018 2017 2016

Current:
Federal $— $(1,101 ) $(621 )
Foreign (3,023 ) (1,731 ) (1,064 )
State and local taxes (2,583 ) (2,317 ) (3,951 )

$(5,606) $(5,149 ) $(5,636 )
Deferred:
Federal $6,249 $(75,928) $(12,550)
Foreign 1,290 1,631 2
State and local taxes (2,730 ) (280 ) 490

4,809 (74,577 ) (12,058 )
$(797 ) $(79,726) $(17,694)
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The reconciliation between the United States federal statutory rate of 21% for the year ended December 31, 2018 and
35% for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, to the Company's effective rates are as follows:

For the years ended
December 31,
2018 2017 2016

U.S. Federal statutory tax rate 21  % 35  % 35 %
Statutory permanent items 4  % 9  % 1  %
Effect of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act —  % 152 % — %
Equity-based compensation (43)% (24 )% — %
Acquisition costs 4  % —  % 4  %
Officers' compensation 3  % 1  % 5  %
State and local taxes, net of federal benefit 12  % 5  % 7  %
International tax (reflects effect of losses for which tax benefit not realized) 4  % (4 )% — %
Uncertain tax positions 2  % —  % — %
Tax credits (2 )% (2 )% — %
Valuation reserve for income taxes and other —  % (3 )% (5 )%
Tax rate change —  % 3  % 8  %
Other (3 )% 2  % 2  %
Effective tax rate 2  % 174 % 57 %
For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company's overall effective tax rate was different from the statutory rate
of 21% primarily as a result of the increase in the state provision along with the permanent benefit related to the
equity-based stock compensation and its related state impact.
For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company's overall effective tax rate was different from the statutory rate
of 35% primarily due to the impact of tax reform enacted in the United States on December 22, 2017 reducing the
corporate tax rate from 35% to 21% beginning January 1, 2018. This resulted in an expense of $69,378 attributable to
the re-measurement of the Company's deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2017. Due to the complexities of the
new legislation and associated accounting considerations, SEC SAB 118 provided for an entity to utilize a provisional
estimate within its financial statements for the impact of the TCJA. The Company has determined that the provisional
amounts recorded in its December 31, 2017 statement of operations are final and no further adjustment is required.
On January 1, 2017, the Company adopted ASU 2016-09, "Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment
Accounting".  Previously, excess tax benefits net of shortfalls were recognized in additional paid-in capital on the
consolidated balance sheet to the extent they reduced income taxes payable.  Beginning in 2017, any excess tax
benefits or shortfalls were recorded in income tax expense upon vest or exercise.  During the years ended December
31, 2018 and 2017, the Company recorded a net benefit of $16 million and $11 million, respectively, related to excess
tax benefits. 
For the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company's overall effective tax rate was different than the statutory rate of
35% primarily due to the permanent adjustment for the contingent consideration relating to the acquisition of Nexmo.
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The temporary differences which gave rise to the Company's net deferred tax assets consisted of the following:
December 31,
2018

December 31,
2017

Assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable and inventory allowances $ 839 $ 553
Deferred rent 1,212 862
Acquired intangible assets and property and equipment (56,801 ) (39,077 )
Accrued expenses 7,344 5,182
Research and development 991 958
Stock option compensation 14,741 17,734
Capital leases (38 ) 37
Cumulative translation adjustments 170 (714 )
Deferred revenue 5,355 6,994
Derivatives 142 (319 )
Prepaid expense (13,312 ) —
Net operating loss carryforwards 165,732 141,072

126,375 133,282
Valuation allowance (23,815 ) (22,390 )
Deferred tax assets, net, non-current $ 102,560 $ 110,892

Deferred tax assets and valuation allowance
Net deferred tax balance - As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, we recorded a net deferred tax asset, net of valuation
allowance of $102,560 and $110,892, respectively. The Company believes that the net operating losses related to its
United Kingdom subsidiary Vonage Limited and certain U.S. states may not be realizable under a "more likely than
not" measurement and as such, a valuation allowance has been established to reduce the asset accordingly.
NOL carryforwards - As of December 31, 2018, the Company has U.S. Federal and state NOL carryforwards of
$578,522 and $245,403, respectively, which expire at various times through 2037. We have NOLs for United
Kingdom tax purposes of $162,535 with no expiration date. Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, if we
undergo an “ownership change” which is generally defined as a greater than 50% change by value in our equity
ownership over a three-year period, our ability to use our pre-change of control NOLs and other pre-change tax
attributes against our post-change income may be limited. The Section 382 limitation is applied annually so as to limit
the use of our pre-change NOLs to an amount that generally equals the value of our stock immediately before the
ownership change multiplied by a designated federal long-term tax-exempt rate. At December 31, 2018, there were no
limitations on the use of our NOLs except for certain of the NOLs of Vocalocity as of the date of acquisition for
which the Company has reflected in the deferred tax asset.
Valuation allowance - As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company's valuation allowance was $23,815 and
$22,390, respectively, primarily consisting of NOLs associated with Vonage Limited, NewVoiceMedia and state
NOLs for certain legal entities.
Uncertain tax benefits
The Company had uncertain tax benefits of $1,107 and $1,086 as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The
Company recognizes interest and penalties related to uncertain tax benefits in income tax expense. The Company
recorded interest expense of $68 and $0 and penalty expense of $61 and $0 for the years ended December 31, 2018
and December 31, 2017, respectively.  The December 31, 2017 uncertain tax benefit would have no impact on the
ETR upon recognition due to the tax accounting for deferred tax assets. If the December 31, 2018 uncertain tax benefit
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is recognized, the full amount recorded and year end would be recognized through the ETR. The following table
reconciles the total amounts of uncertain tax benefits:

As of December
31,
2018 2017

Balance as of January 1 $1,086 —
Increase due to current year positions 1,107 1,086
Decrease due to prior year positions (1,086 ) —
Uncertain tax benefits as of December 31 $1,107 $1,086
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Tax jurisdictions
Business is conducted in various countries throughout the world and is subject to tax in numerous jurisdictions. A
significant number of tax returns that are filed are subject to audit by various Federal, state and local tax authorities.
The Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal income tax examinations for years prior to 2015. With few
exceptions, state and local income tax examinations are no longer open for years before 2014.

Note 7. Long-Term Debt and Revolving Credit Facility
A schedule of long-term debt, excluding current portion, at December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as follows: 

December 31,
2018

December 31,
2017

Term note - due 2023, net of debt related costs $ 84,228 $ —
Revolving credit facility - due 2023 425,000 —
Term note - due 2020, net of debt related costs — 72,765
Revolving credit facility - due 2020 — 141,000
Total long-term debt and revolving credit facility $ 509,228 $ 213,765

As of December 31, 2018, future payments under long-term debt obligations over each of the next five years are as
follows: 

2018
Credit Facility

2019 $ 10,000
2020 10,000
2021 10,000
2022 10,000
2023 480,000
Minimum future payments of principal 520,000
Less debt issuance costs 772
          Current portion of long-term debt 10,000
Long-term debt and revolving credit facility $ 509,228

2018 Term Note and Revolving Credit Facility 

On July 31, 2018, the Company replaced its 2016 Credit Facility previously consisting of a $125 million term loan
and a $325 million revolving credit facility with the 2018 Credit Facility consisting of a $100 million senior secured
term loan and a $500 million revolving credit facility. The co-borrowers under the 2018 Credit Facility are the
Company and Vonage America Inc., the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary. Obligations under the 2018 Credit
Facility are guaranteed, fully and unconditionally, by the Company’s other United States subsidiaries and are secured
by substantially all of the assets of each borrower and each guarantor.
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The company used $232,000 of the proceeds available under our 2018 Credit Facility plus cash on hand to retire all of
the debt outstanding under our 2016 Credit Facility and to cover transaction fees and expenses. Total transaction fees
and expenses incurred were $3,376, of which $474 was allocated to the term note and $2,813 was allocated to the
revolving credit facility to be amortized over the term of 2018 Credit Facility. The remaining $89 of transaction fees
and expenses were expensed during the year ended December 31, 2018. The Company recognized a loss on
extinguishment of debt of $14 which primarily consisted of the write off of previously deferred financing costs
partially offset by the realization of a portion of gains associated with the interest rate swaps included in accumulated
other comprehensive income. Remaining proceeds available from the undrawn revolving credit facility under our
2018 Credit Facility will be used for general corporate purposes and to fund potential additional acquisitions.

2018 Credit Facility Terms
The following description summarizes the material terms of the 2018 Credit Facility:
The loans under the 2018 Credit Facility mature on July 31, 2023. Principal amounts under the 2018 Credit Facility
are repayable in quarterly installments of $2.5 million for the term loan. The unused portion of the Company's
revolving credit facility incurs a 0.30% per annum commitment fee.
Outstanding amounts under the 2018 Credit Facility, at the Company's option, will bear interest at:

•
LIBOR (applicable to one-, two-, three-, six-, or twelve-month periods) plus an applicable margin equal to 2.00% up
to 2.75% per annum payable on the last day of each relevant interest period or, if the interest period is longer than
three months, each day that is three months after the first day of the interest period, or

•

the base rate determined by reference to the highest of (a) the rate of interest last quoted by the Wall Street Journal as
the “Prime Rate” in the U.S., (b) the federal funds effective rate from time to time plus 0.50%, and (c) the adjusted
LIBO rate applicable to one month interest periods plus 1.00%, plus an applicable margin equal to 1.00% up to 1.75%
per annum payable on the last business day of each March, June, September, and December and the maturity date of
the 2018 Credit Facility.
In 2018, we made mandatory repayments of $5 million under the 2018 term loan and made discretionary repayments
of $42 million under the 2018 revolving credit facility. In addition, the effective interest rate was 5.31% as of
December 31, 2018.
As of December 31, 2018, we were in compliance with all covenants, including financial covenants, for the 2018
Credit Facility.

2016 Financing
On June 3, 2016, we entered into Amendment No. 1 to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, or the 2016
Credit Facility, consisting of a $125,000 term note and a $325,000 revolving credit facility. The co-borrowers under
the 2016 Credit Facility are the Company and Vonage America Inc., the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary.
Obligations under the 2016 Credit Facility are guaranteed, fully and unconditionally, by the Company’s other United
States material subsidiaries and are secured by substantially all of the assets of each borrower and each guarantor. The
loans under the 2016 Credit Facility mature in June 2020. Principal amounts under the 2016 Credit Facility are
repayable in quarterly installments of approximately $4,688 for the term note. The unused portion of our revolving
credit facility incurs a 0.45% commitment fee. Such commitment fee will be reduced to 0.40% if our consolidated
leverage ratio is greater than or equal to 1.50 to 1.00 and less than 2.50 to 1.00, 0.375% if our consolidated leverage
ratio is greater than or equal to 0.75 to 1.00 and less than 1.50 to 1.00, and to 0.35% if our consolidated leverage ratio
is less than 0.75 to 1.00. We may prepay the 2016 Credit Facility at our option at any time without premium or
penalty.
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The 2016 Credit Facility includes customary representations and warranties and affirmative covenants of the
borrowers. In addition, the 2016 Credit Facility contains customary negative covenants, including, among other
things, restrictions on the ability of us and our subsidiaries to consolidate or merge, create liens, incur additional
indebtedness, dispose of assets, consummate acquisitions, make investments, and pay dividends and other
distributions.
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Outstanding amounts under the 2016 Credit Facility, at our option, will bear interest at:

•
LIBOR (applicable to one-, two-, three-, six-, or twelve-month periods) plus an applicable margin equal to 2.50% up
to 3.25% per annum payable on the last day of each relevant interest period or, if the interest period is longer than
three months, each day that is three months after the first day of the interest period, or

•

the base rate determined by reference to the highest of (a) the prime rate of JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., (b) the
federal funds effective rate from time to time plus 0.50%, and (c) the adjusted LIBO rate applicable to one month
interest periods plus 1.00%, plus an applicable margin equal to 1.50% up to 2.5 payable on the last business day of
each March, June, September, and December and the maturity date of the 2016 Credit Facility.

Interest Rate Swap
On July 14, 2017, we executed on three interest rate swap agreements in order to hedge the variability of expected
future cash interest payments related to the 2016 Credit Facility. The swaps have an aggregate notional amount of
$150 million and were effective from July 31, 2017 through June 3, 2020 concurrent with the term of the 2016 Credit
Facility. Under the swaps our interest rate is fixed at 4.7%. The interest rate swaps are accounted for as cash flow
hedges in accordance with ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging.
In connection with the $14 debt extinguishment, the Company reclassified a gain of $271 from accumulated other
comprehensive income to earnings. The remaining $2,654 gain accumulated in other comprehensive income as of July
31, 2018 will be amortized over the term of the 2018 Credit Facility. The cash flows on the 2018 Credit Facility have
been designated and qualify as a cash flow hedge of forecasted interest coupon payments.
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the fair market value of the swaps was $1,859 and $1,285, respectively, which is
included in other assets on our consolidated balance sheet. The following table summarizes the effects of ASC 815 on
the Company's accumulated OCI balance attributable to cash flow derivatives:

Years
Ended
December
31
2018 2017

Accumulated OCI beginning balance $965 $—
Reclassified from accumulated OCI to income:
Due to reclassification of previously deferred gain (469 ) —
Change in fair value of cash flow hedge accounting contracts, net of tax 479 965
Accumulated OCI ending balance, net of tax benefit of $393 and $320, respectively $975 $965
Gains expected to be realized from accumulated OCI during the next 12 months $531 $—

NOTE 8. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
ASC 820-10 defines fair value as the amount that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability in the
principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
on the measurement date. ASC 820-10 also establishes a fair value hierarchy that requires an entity to maximize the
use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. ASC 820-10
describes the following three levels of inputs that may be used:

•Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical assetsand liabilities. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs.
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•Level 2: Observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted on active markets but corroborated by market data.

•Level 3: Unobservable inputs when there is little or no market data available, thereby requiring an entity to develop itsown assumptions. The fair value hierarchy gives the lowest priority to Level 3 inputs.  
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Although management believed its valuation methods were appropriate and consistent with other market participants,
the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could
have resulted in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date.
The following table presents the assets and liabilities that are measured and recognized at fair value on a recurring
basis classified under the appropriate level of the fair value hierarchy as of December 31, 2018 and December 31,
2017:

December 31,
2018

December 31,
2017

Level 2 Measurements
Interest rate swaps (1) $ 1,859 $ 1,285

(1) Included in other liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet.

Fair Value of Other Financial Instruments
The carrying amounts of our other financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable,
and accounts payable, approximate fair value and are classified as Level 1 because of their short maturities. The
carrying amounts of our capital leases approximate fair value of these obligations based upon management’s best
estimates of interest rates that would be available for similar debt obligations at December 31, 2017. We believe the
fair value of our debt at December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017 were approximately the same as their carrying
amounts as market conditions, including credit spread relative to our credit rating, and illiquidity, remain relatively
unchanged from the issuance date of our 2018 Credit Facility on July 31, 2018 and 2016 Credit Facility on June 3,
2016 for similar debt instruments and are classified as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. 
As of December 31, 2018, we did not have any other assets or liabilities that are measured and recognized at fair value
on a recurring basis.

Note 9. Common Stock
As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, the Company had 596,950 shares of common stock authorized. For
a detailed description of our share-based compensation programs refer to Note 10, Employee Stock Benefit Plans.
Common Stock Repurchases
On December 9, 2014, Vonage's Board of Directors authorized a program for the Company to repurchase up to
$100,000 of its outstanding common stock, or the 2014 $100,000 repurchase program. Repurchases under the 2014
$100,000 repurchase program were to be made over a four-year period and ended on December 31, 2018.
We repurchased the following shares of common stock with cash resources under the 2014 $100,000 repurchase
program as of December 31, 2018 and 2017:

December
31, 2018

December
31, 2017

Shares of common stock repurchased — 1,599
Value of common stock repurchased $ —$ 9,510

The 2014 $100,000 repurchase program expired on December 31, 2018. As of December 31, 2018, $42,533 remained
unutilized of our repurchase program.
Net Operating Loss Rights Agreement
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On June 7, 2012, we entered into a Tax Benefits Preservation Plan, or Preservation Plan, designed to preserve
stockholder value and tax assets. Our ability to use our tax attributes to offset tax on U.S. taxable income would be
substantially limited if there were an "ownership change" as defined under Section 382 of the U.S. Internal Revenue
Code. In general, an ownership change would occur if one or more "5-percent shareholders," as defined under Section
382, collectively increase their ownership in us by more than 50 percent over a rolling three-year period.
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In connection with the adoption of the Preservation Plan, our board of directors declared a dividend of one preferred
share purchase right for each outstanding share of the Company’s common stock. The preferred share purchase rights
were distributed to stockholders of record as of June 18, 2012, as well as to holders of the Company's common stock
issued after that date, but will only be activated if certain triggering events under the Preservation Plan occur.
Under the Preservation Plan, preferred share purchase rights will work to impose significant dilution upon any person
or group which acquires beneficial ownership of 4.9% or more of the outstanding common stock, without the approval
of our board of directors, from and after June 7, 2012. Stockholders that own 4.9% or more of the outstanding
common stock as of the opening of business on June 7, 2012, will not trigger the preferred share purchase rights so
long as they do not (i) acquire additional shares of common stock or (ii) fall under 4.9% ownership of common stock
and then re-acquire shares that in the aggregate equal 4.9% or more of the common stock.
The Preservation Plan was initially set to expire no later than the close of business June 7, 2013, unless extended by
our board of directors. On June 8, 2017, at the Vonage 2017 annual meeting of stockholders, stockholders ratified the
continued extension of the Preservation Plan through June 30, 2019.

Note 10. Employee Stock Benefit Plans
Share-Based Compensation
Our stock option program is a long-term retention program that is intended to attract, retain and provide incentives for
talented employees, officers and directors, and to align stockholder and employee interests. Currently, we grant
options from our 2015 Equity Incentive Plan. Our 2006 Incentive Plan was terminated by our board of directors in
2015 and our 2001 Stock Incentive Plan was terminated by our board of directors in 2008. As such, share-based
awards are no longer granted under either the 2006 Incentive Plan and the 2001 Stock Incentive Plan. Under the 2015
Equity Incentive Plan, share-based awards can be granted to all employees, including executive officers, outside
consultants, and non-employee directors. Vesting periods for share-based awards are generally three or four years for
both plans. Awards granted under each plan expire in five or ten years from the effective date of grant. As of April
2010, the Company began routinely granting awards with a ten year expiration period.
The fair value for these options was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The
company did not grant options in 2018. The assumptions used to value options in 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

2017 2016
Risk-free interest rate 1.95-2.18% 1.17-2.12%
Expected stock price volatility 46.19-47.59% 47.52-72.50%
Dividend yield 0.00 % 0.00 %
Expected life (in years) 6.25 6.25
 We estimated the volatility of our stock using historical volatility of our common stock in accordance with guidance
in FASB ASC 718, “Compensation-Stock Compensation”. The risk-free interest rate assumption is based upon observed
interest rates appropriate for the term of our employee stock options. The expected term of employee stock options
represents the weighted-average period that the stock options are expected to remain outstanding, which we derive
based on our historical settlement experience. As we historically have not paid dividends, we utilize a dividend yield
of 0%.
We also issue restricted performance stock units with vesting that is contingent on both total shareholder return, or
TSR, compared to members of our peer group and continued service. For the market-based restricted performance
stock units issued during the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2016, the payouts at vesting which are linearly
interpolated between the percentiles specified below are as follows:
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Payout Schedule

Percentile Ranking % of Target
Earned

Greater than 80% 200%
50 %—80% 100%—200%
30 %—50% 50 %—100%
Less than 30% — % —%
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, if our TSR is negative for the performance period, then the vesting percentage shall
not exceed 100%. In addition, we reduce the shares available for grant to cover the potential payout of 200%.
To value these market-based restricted performance stock units, we used a Monte Carlo simulation model on the date
of grant. Compensation expense for restricted stock units with performance and market conditions is recognized over
the requisite service period using the straight-line method.
The assumptions used to value these market based restricted performance stock units are as follows:

2018 2017 2016
Risk-free interest rate 2.38 % 1.54 % 1.12 %
Expected stock price volatility 36.72% 35.99% 42.61%
Dividend yield 0.00 % 0.00 % 0.00 %
Expected term (in years) 2.79 2.79 2.79
Our stock incentive plans as of December 31, 2018 are summarized as follows (in thousands): 

Shares
Authorized

Shares
Available
for Grant

Stock
Options
Outstanding

Non-vested
Restricted
Stock and
Restricted
Stock
Units

Options assumed from acquisition 2,227 303 425 —
2006 Incentive Plan 71,669 4,360 35
2015 Incentive Plan 21,731 7,227 1,150 9,871
Total as of December 31, 2018 95,627 7,530 5,935 9,906
2015 Equity Incentive Plan
On June 3, 2015, we adopted our 2015 Equity Incentive Plan which replaced the 2006 Incentive Plan. Shares issued
under the plan may be authorized and unissued shares or may be issued shares that we have reacquired. Shares
covered by awards that are forfeited, canceled or otherwise expire without having been exercised or settled, or that are
settled by cash or other non-share consideration, will become available for issuance pursuant to a new award. Shares
that are tendered or withheld to pay the exercise price of an award or to satisfy tax withholding obligations will not be
available for issuance pursuant to new awards.  Our 2015 Equity Incentive Plan will terminate on June 3, 2025. At
December 31, 2018, 7,227 shares were available for future grant under the 2015 Equity Incentive Plan.
The 2015 Equity Incentive Plan permits the grant of stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock
appreciation rights, performance stock, performance units, annual awards, and other awards based on, or related to,
shares of our common stock. Options awarded under our 2015 Equity Incentive Plan may be non-qualified stock
options or may qualify as incentive stock options under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended. For purposes of complying with the requirements of Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986,
as amended, the maximum number of shares of common stock that may be subject to stock options, stock appreciation
rights, performance-based restricted stock awards, performance-based restricted stock units and performance-based
stock awards granted to any participant other than a non-employee director during any calendar year will be limited to
10,000 shares of common stock for each such award type individually. The maximum number of shares of common
stock that may be subject to stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, restricted stock units and
stock awards granted to any non-employee director during any calendar year will be limited to 10,000 shares of
common stock for all such award types in the aggregate. Further, the maximum amount that may become payable to
any one Participant during any one calendar year under all Cash Performance Awards intended to qualify as
“performance-based compensation” under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, is limited
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Stock Options
The following table summarizes the activity and changes related to stock options during the year:

Stock Options Outstanding

Units

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price Per
Unit

(in thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2017 10,448 $ 3.19
Stock options granted — —
Stock options exercised (4,485 ) 2.39
Stock options canceled (28 ) 2.93
Outstanding at December 31, 2018 5,935 $ 3.79
Exercisable at December 31, 2018 4,918 $ 3.43
There were no options granted in 2018. The weighted average exercise price of options granted was $6.46, and $5.91
for the years ended December 31, 2017, and 2016, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of exercised stock
options for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 was $38,248, $38,958, and $12,142, respectively. 
The weighted average grant date fair market value of stock options granted was $3.04 and $3.01 for the years ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units
The following table summarizes the activity and changes related to restricted stock and restricted stock units during
the year:

Restricted Stock
and Restricted
Stock Units
Outstanding

Units

Weighted
Average
Grant
Date Fair
Market
Value
Per Unit

(in thousands)
Non-vested at December 31, 2017 11,928 $ 5.94
Restricted stock and restricted stock units granted 6,770 10.55
Restricted stock and restricted stock units vested (7,434 ) 6.03
Restricted stock and restricted stock units canceled (1,358 ) 7.53
Non-vested at December 31, 2018 9,906 $ 8.81
The weighted average grant date fair market value of restricted stock and restricted stock units granted was $10.55,
$6.79, and $4.93 during the year ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively. The fair value of restricted
stock and restricted stock units that vested during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 was $44,812,
$41,057, and $12,248, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of restricted stock units outstanding was $86,479 as
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of December 31, 2018.
Supplemental Information
Total share-based compensation expense recognized for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 was
$33,799, $37,482, and $40,682, respectively, which were recorded to cost of services and general and administrative
expense in the consolidated statement of income. As of December 31, 2018, total unamortized share-based
compensation was $46,025, accounting for forfeitures when they occur, which is expected to be amortized over the
remaining vesting period of each grant, up to the next 48 months. Compensation costs for all share-based awards are
amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. Our current policy is to issue new shares to settle
the exercise of stock options and prospectively, the vesting of restricted stock units.
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 Information regarding the options outstanding as of December 31, 2018 is summarized below: 
Stock Options Outstanding Stock Options Exercisable

Range of
Exercise Prices

Stock
Options
Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

Stock
Options
Vested
and
Exercisable

Weighted Average Remaining
Contractual Life

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

(in thousands)(in years) (in thousands)(in thousands)(in years) (in thousands)
$0.11 to $1.43 607 1.20 456 1.17
$1.44 to $1.99 — — — —
$2.00 to $4.00 3,822 3.35 3,781 3.34
$4.01 to $7.25 1,506 5.96 681 5.42

5,9355.78 3.79 $ 29,314 4,9185.32 3.43 $ 26,075

Retirement Plan
In March 2001, we established a 401(k) Retirement Plan, or the Retirement Plan, available to employees who meet the
plan’s eligibility requirements. Participants may elect to contribute a percentage of their compensation to the
Retirement Plan up to a statutory limit. We may make a contribution to the Retirement Plan in the form of a matching
contribution. The employer matching contribution is 50% of each employee’s contributions not to exceed $6 in 2016,
2017, and 2018. Our expense related to the Retirement Plan was $6,756, $5,411, and $5,015 in 2018, 2017, and 2016,
respectively.

Note 11. Commitments and Contingencies

Capital Leases
Assets financed under capital lease agreements are included in property and equipment in the consolidated balance
sheet and related depreciation and amortization expense is included in the consolidated statements of operations.
On March 24, 2005, we entered into a lease for our headquarters in Holmdel, New Jersey. The overall lease term is
twelve years and five months, which ended on August 31, 2017. In November 2015, we entered into the fourth
amendment to our headquarters lease effective December 1, 2015. The amendment extends the term of the lease for a
period of seventy-four months to commence September 1, 2017 and continue through October 31, 2023. Based on the
terms of the lease, it was accounted for as an operating lease when it became effective on September 1, 2017.
Operating Leases
We have entered into various non-cancelable operating lease agreements for certain of our existing office and
telecommunications co-location space in the United States and for international subsidiaries with original lease
periods expiring through 2026. We are committed to pay a portion of the buildings’ operating expenses as determined
under the agreements.
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At December 31, 2018, future minimum payments under non-cancelable operating leases are as follows over each of
the next five years and thereafter:

Operating
Leases

Committed
Sub-lease
Income

Net
Operating
Leases

2019 $ 17,204 $ (613 ) $ 16,591
2020 14,209 (613 ) $ 13,596
2021 10,378 (613 ) $ 9,765
2022 8,206 (613 ) $ 7,593
2023 8,154 (409 ) $ 7,745
Thereafter 9,908 — $ 9,908
Total minimum payments required $ 68,059 $ (2,861 ) $ 65,198
Rent expense net of sub-lease income was $22,706, $11,429, and $7,495 for the years ended December 31, 2018,
2017 and 2016, respectively.
Stand-by Letters of Credit
We have stand-by letters of credit totaling $1,516 and $1,563, as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
End-User Commitments
We are obligated to provide telephone services to our registered end-users. The costs related to the potential utilization
of minutes sold are expensed as incurred. Our obligation to provide this service is dependent on the proper functioning
of systems controlled by third-party service providers. We do not have a contractual service relationship with some of
these providers.
Vendor Commitments
We have several commitments primarily commitments to vendors who will provide local inbound services, provide
carrier operation, provide data center with technical supports, provide networks and telephone related services,
provide marketing infrastructure and services, provide customer caller ID, provide hardware and software supports,
provide web hosting service, provide electricity to our office, provide software maintenance service, and license
patents to us. In certain cases, we may terminate these arrangements early upon payment of specified fees. These
commitments total $57,173. Of this total amount, we expect to purchase $32,177 in 2019, $10,873 in 2020, $5,602 in
2021, and $4,976 in 2022 and $3,545 in 2023, respectively. These amounts do not represent our entire anticipated
purchases in the future, but represent only those items for which we are contractually committed. We also purchase
products and services as needed with no firm commitment. For this reason, the amounts presented do not provide a
reliable indicator of our expected future cash outflows or changes in our expected cash position.
Litigation
From time to time, in addition to those identified below, we are subject to legal proceedings, claims, investigations,
and proceedings in the ordinary course of business, including claims of alleged infringement of third-party patents and
other intellectual property rights, commercial, employment, and other matters. From time to time, we receive letters or
other communications from third parties inviting us to obtain patent licenses that might be relevant to our business or
alleging that our services infringe upon third party patents or other intellectual property. In accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, we make a provision for a liability when it is both probable that a liability has been
incurred and the amount of the loss or range of loss can be reasonably estimated. These provisions, if any, are
reviewed at least quarterly and adjusted to reflect the impacts of negotiations, settlements, rulings, advice of legal
counsel, and other information and events pertaining to a particular case. Litigation is inherently unpredictable. We
believe that we have valid defenses with respect to the legal matters pending against us and are vigorously defending
these matters. Given the uncertainty surrounding litigation and our inability to assess the likelihood of a favorable or

Edgar Filing: WESTPORT INNOVATIONS INC - Form 6-K

103



unfavorable outcome in the matters noted below and our inability to reasonably estimate the amount of loss or range
of loss, it is possible that the resolution of one or more of these matters could have a material adverse effect on our
condensed consolidated financial position, cash flows or results of operations.
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Commercial Litigation
Merkin & Smith, et al.  On September 27, 2013, Arthur Merkin and James Smith filed a putative class action lawsuit
against Vonage America, Inc. in the Superior Court of the State of California, County of Los Angeles, alleging that
Vonage violated California’s Unfair Competition Law by charging its customers fictitious 911 taxes and fees. On
October 30, 2013, Vonage filed a notice removing the case to the United States District Court for the Central District
of California. On November 26, 2013, Vonage filed its Answer to the Complaint. On December 4, 2013, Vonage filed
a Motion to Compel Arbitration, which the Court denied on February 4, 2014. On March 5, 2014, Vonage appealed
that decision to the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit. On March 26, 2014, the district court
proceedings were stayed pending the appeal. On February 29, 2016, the Ninth Circuit reversed the district court’s
ruling and remanded with instructions to grant the motion to compel arbitration. On March 22, 2016, Merkin and
Smith filed a petition for rehearing. On May 4, 2016, the Ninth Circuit withdrew its February 29, 2016 decision and
issued a new order reversing the district court’s order and remanded with instructions to compel arbitration. The Ninth
Circuit also declared as moot the petition for rehearing. On June 27, 2016, the lower court stayed the case pending
arbitration. A joint status report was filed with the District Court on December 23, 2016. A second joint status report
was filed with the District Court on March 23, 2017. A third joint status report was filed with the District Court on
June 27, 2017. A fourth joint status report was filed with the District Court on September 26, 2017. A fifth joint status
report was filed with the District Court on December 26, 2017. Counsel for Vonage spoke with counsel for plaintiffs
in mid-February 2018, seeking voluntary dismissal. In the fourth quarter of 2018, Vonage prepared a motion to
dismiss. Following a meeting and confirmation regarding the motion to dismiss, the parties agreed to settle the matter
and Plaintiff's counsel prepared a Stipulation for Dismissal. The United States District Court for the Central District of
California dismissed the case without prejudice on February 21, 2019. The Company will discontinue reporting on
this matter.
Regulation
Telephony services are subject to a broad spectrum of state, federal and foreign regulations. Because of the
uncertainty over whether Voice over Internet Protocol (“VoIP”) should be treated as a telecommunications or
information service, we have been involved in a substantial amount of state and federal regulatory activity.
Implementation and interpretation of the existing laws and regulations is ongoing and is subject to litigation by
various federal and state agencies and courts. Due to the uncertainty over the regulatory classification of VoIP service,
there can be no assurance that we will not be subject to new regulations or existing regulations under new
interpretations, and that such change would not introduce material additional costs to our business. The Company
continues to monitor federal regulations relating to net neutrality, rural call completion issues, number slamming, 911
access, access to telecommunication equipment and services by persons with disabilities, caller ID services, number
portability, unwanted calls to reassigned numbers, and robocalling. As we continue to expand globally, these types of
regulations are likely to be similarly enacted and enforced by the local regulatory authorities.    

State and Municipal Taxes 

In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, we make a provision for a liability for taxes when it is
both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the liability or range of liability can be reasonably
estimated. These provisions are reviewed at least quarterly and adjusted to reflect the impacts of negotiations,
settlements, rulings, advice of legal counsel, and other information and events pertaining to a particular case. For a
period of time, we did not collect or remit state or municipal taxes (such as sales, excise, utility, use, and ad valorem
taxes), fees or surcharges (“Taxes”) on the charges to our customers for our services, except that we historically
complied with the New Jersey sales tax. We have received inquiries or demands from a number of state and municipal
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taxing and 911 agencies seeking payment of Taxes that are applied to or collected from customers of providers of
traditional public switched telephone network services. Although we have consistently maintained that these Taxes do
not apply to our service for a variety of reasons depending on the statute or rule that establishes such obligations, we
are now collecting and remitting sales taxes in certain of those states including a number of states that have changed
their statutes to expressly include VoIP. In addition, many states address how VoIP providers should contribute to
support public safety agencies, and in those states we remit fees to the appropriate state agencies. We could also be
contacted by state or municipal taxing and 911 agencies regarding Taxes that do explicitly apply to VoIP and these
agencies could seek retroactive payment of Taxes. As such, we have a reserve of $3,302 as of December 31, 2018 as
our best estimate of the potential tax exposure for any retroactive assessment.
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UK OFCOM Investigation
On April 3, 2018, the UK Office of Communications ("OFCOM") launched an investigation to determine Vonage
Limited’s compliance with General Condition 3.1 and Section 105A of the Communications Act 2003, which cover
obligations of communication providers to take necessary measures to, among other things, maintain network
availability and access to emergency services. In cases where violations are found, OFCOM has the authority to issue
monetary penalties in accordance with its Guidelines and limitations imposed by statute. In April 2018, Vonage
submitted its responses to OFCOM’s first request for information, and in May 2018, Vonage submitted its responses to
OFCOM’s second request for information, and in October 2018, representatives from Vonage met with OFCOM on
the status of the case. In November 2018, the parties agreed to settle the matter of approximately $30, which was paid
by Vonage in December 2018. Vonage will no longer be providing updates on the OFCOM matter.

F-35     VONAGE ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Edgar Filing: WESTPORT INNOVATIONS INC - Form 6-K

107



Table of Contents

VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Note 12. Acquisitions and Dispositions

Acquisition of NewVoiceMedia
On October 31, 2018, the Company acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of NewVoiceMedia Limited
(“NewVoiceMedia”), a cloud Contact Center-as-a-Service (CCaaS) provider, for a purchase price of $350,179 paid in
cash. NewVoiceMedia is a private limited company organized under the laws of England & Wales. Adding
NewVoiceMedia's contact center solutions to its existing suite of products will enable the Company to offer a full
array of cloud business communications solutions delivered through owned technology.
The acquisition was recorded as a business combination under ASC 805, with identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed provisionally recorded at their estimated fair value on the acquisition date. The initial accounting
for the business combination is not complete because the evaluations necessary to assess the fair values of certain net
assets acquired inclusive of deferred tax liabilities is still in process. The allocation of the purchase price may be
modified up to one year from the date of the acquisition as more information is obtained about the fair value of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. Under the terms of the offer, NewVoiceMedia shareholders received cash in the
amount of approximately $341 million (approximately £260 million based on a 1.31335 GBP to USD exchange rate
as of September 18, 2018) shortly after completion of the offer and the Company paid transactions costs incurred by
NewVoiceMedia of approximately $9 million on the date of the acquisition.
The table below summarizes the NewVoiceMedia assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of October 31, 2018:

Acquisition
Date Fair
Value

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,994
Accounts receivable 13,747
Other current assets 3,907
Property and equipment 3,474
Intangible assets 154,300
Other assets 378
Total assets acquired 177,800

Liabilities
Accounts payable 4,712
Accrued expenses 4,145
Deferred tax liabilities 7,756
Deferred revenue 22,000
Total liabilities assumed 38,613

Net identifiable assets acquired 139,187
Goodwill 210,992
Total purchase price $ 350,179
The provisional fair values of intangible assets at the acquisition date were measured primarily based on significant
inputs that are not observable in the market and thus represent a Level 3 measurement as defined in ASC 820. The fair
values of the trade name, customer relationships and developed technology were determined utilizing variations of the
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income approach where the expected future cash flows resulting from the acquired identifiable intangible assets were
reduced by operating costs and charges for contributory assets and then discounted to present value at the weighted
average cost of capital.
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The Company recorded goodwill of $210,992 which is attributable to the Business segment and is not deductible for
tax purposes. The factors that resulted in goodwill arising from the acquisition include the revenues and synergies
anticipated with the ability to provide a contact center solution to our existing suite of cloud communication services
along with a skilled workforce proficient in API development. The Company also recorded intangible assets of $154.3
million comprised of trade name of $5.3 million, customer relationships of $87 million, and developed technology of
$62 million with weighted average remaining amortization period of 3 years, 12 years and 6 years, respectively. In
addition, the Company incurred and expensed acquisition related transaction costs included in general and
administrative expense related to the acquisition of NewVoiceMedia of $9,627 for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Supplemental Pro Forma Information (unaudited)
Since the acquisition dates, NewVoiceMedia contributed $10,550 in revenue and $7,495 in net losses. The following
supplemental pro forma information represents the results of operations if Vonage had acquired NewVoiceMedia on
January 1, 2017.

For the years ended
December
31, 2018

December
31, 2017

Revenue $1,105,674 $1,058,063
Net income (loss) (17,475 )(65,023 )
Earnings (loss) per share - basic (0.07 )(0.29 )
Earnings (loss) per share - diluted (0.07 )(0.29 )
The pro forma information has been adjusted to include the pro-forma impact of amortization of intangible assets
based on the preliminary purchase price allocations. The pro forma data has also been adjusted to eliminate
non-recurring transaction costs as well as the related tax impact of pro forma adjustments. There were no transactions
between Vonage and NewVoiceMedia. The pro forma results are presented for illustrative purposes only and do not
reflect the realization of potential cost savings or any related integration costs.

Acquisition of TokBox
On August 1, 2018, the Company acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of Telefonica Digital, Inc.
(“TDI”), a subsidiary of Telefonica, S.A., and TDI’s subsidiaries, TokBox, Inc. (“TokBox”) and TokBox Australia Pty
Limited, for a purchase price of $32,906 paid in cash. San Francisco-based TokBox develops and operates the
OpenTok Platform and is a provider in the WebRTC programmable video segment of the cloud communications
market which will compliment the Company's existing portfolio of programmable communications.
The acquisition was recorded as a business combination under ASC 805, with identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed provisionally recorded at their estimated fair value on the acquisition date. The initial accounting
for the business combination is not complete because the evaluation necessary to assess the fair value of certain net
assets acquired is still in process. The provisional amounts are subject to revision until the evaluations are completed
to the extent that additional information is obtained about the facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition
date. The allocation of the purchase price may be modified up to one year from the date of the acquisition as more
information is obtained about the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
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The table below summarizes the TokBox assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of August 1, 2018:
Acquisition
Date Fair
Value

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 557
Current assets 2,205
Property and equipment 124
Intangible assets 15,602
Deferred tax asset 92
Restricted cash 50
Total assets acquired 18,630

Liabilities
Accounts payable 371
Accrued expenses 6,003
Total liabilities assumed 6,374

Net identifiable assets acquired 12,256
Goodwill 20,650
Total purchase price $ 32,906

The Company recorded goodwill of $20,650 which is attributable to the Business segment and is deductible for tax
purposes. The factors that resulted in goodwill arising from the acquisition include the revenues expected to be
achieved by incorporating a video feature in the Company's API platform along with a skilled workforce proficient in
API development. The Company also recorded intangible assets of $15,602 comprised of customer relationships of
$5,020 and developed technology of $10,582 with weighted average remaining amortization period of 7 years and 5
years, respectively. In addition, the Company incurred and expensed acquisition related transaction costs included in
general and administrative expense related to the acquisition of TokBox of $4,160 for the year ended December 31,
2018.

Supplemental Pro Forma Information (unaudited)
Since the acquisition dates, TokBox contributed $4,446 in revenue and $7,511 in net losses. The following
supplemental pro forma information represents the results of operations if Vonage had acquired TokBoc on January 1,
2017.

For the years ended
December
31, 2018

December
31, 2017

Revenue $1,054,649$1,014,871
Net income (loss) 19,459 (50,520 )
Earnings (loss) per share - basic 0.08 (0.22 )
Earnings (loss) per share - diluted 0.08 (0.22 )
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The pro forma information has been adjusted to include the pro-forma impact of amortization of intangible assets
based on the preliminary purchase price allocations. The pro forma data has also been adjusted to eliminate
non-recurring transaction costs as well as the related tax impact of pro forma adjustments. There were no transactions
between Vonage and TokBox. The pro forma results are presented for illustrative purposes only and do not reflect the
realization of potential cost savings or any related integration costs.
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Acquisition of Nexmo
On June 3, 2016, the Company completed the acquisition of Nexmo Inc., a global leader in the
Communications-Platform-as-a-Service, or CPaaS, segment of the cloud communications market. Nexmo provides
innovative communication APIs for text messaging and voice communications, allowing developers and enterprises to
embed contextual communications into mobile apps, websites and business workflows via text, social media, chat
apps and voice.
The consideration was comprised of the following:
Cash paid at closing (inclusive of cash acquired of $16,094) $179,186
Stock paid at closing 31,591
Variable Payout Amount (described below) 16,472
Employee Payout Amount (described below) 4,779
Acquisition Cost $232,028

The acquisition was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting under which assets and liabilities of
Nexmo were recorded at their respective fair values including an amount for goodwill representing the difference
between the acquisition consideration and the fair value of the identifiable net assets. Goodwill is not deductible for
tax purposes. The factors that contributed to goodwill include synergies that are specific to our consolidated business,
the acquisition of a talented workforce that provides us with expertise in the small and medium business markets, as
well as other intangible assets that do not qualify for separate recognition.
The acquisition price was allocated to the tangible and identified intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed as
of the closing date. The fair values assigned to identifiable intangible assets assumed were based on management’s
current estimates and assumptions. The accounting for the Nexmo acquisition was completed during the three months
ended June 30, 2017, at which point the fair values became final. The table below summarizes the provisional
amounts recognized for assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of December 31, 2016 as well as adjustments made
through the year ended December 31, 2017, when the allocation became final. Measurement period adjustments
primarily reflect the tax impact of the acquisition date fair values.
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The table below summarizes the Nexmo assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of June 3, 2016:

Preliminary
Acquisition
Date Fair
Value

Measurement
period
adjustments

Revised
Acquisition
Date Fair
Value

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 16,094 $ — $ 16,094
Accounts receivable 8,764 — 8,764
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 3,507 — 3,507
Total current assets 28,365 — 28,365
Property and equipment 757 — 757
Software, net 242 — 242
Intangible assets 101,770 — 101,770
Restricted cash 51 — 51
Total assets acquired 131,185 — 131,185

Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 1,841 — 1,841
Accrued expenses 9,299 — 9,299
Deferred revenue, current portion 1,735 — 1,735
Total current liabilities 12,875 — 12,875
Deferred tax liabilities, net, non-current 29,355 (5,482 ) 23,873
Total liabilities assumed 42,230 (5,482 ) 36,748

Net identifiable assets acquired 88,955 5,482 94,437
Goodwill 143,073 (5,482 ) 137,591
Total purchase price $ 232,028 $ — $ 232,028

Sale of Hosted Infrastructure Product Line

On May 31, 2017, we completed the sale of our Hosted Infrastructure product line for up to $4.0 million consideration
comprised of $1.0 million received upon closing, an additional $0.5 million of contingent consideration received
during the third quarter of 2017 and the potential for up to $2.5 million further consideration based on the
achievement of financial objectives for net sales during the 18 months following closing. The results of our Hosted
Infrastructure product line have historically been included within the Business segment. As a result of the sale, we
recorded a gain $1,879 for the year ended December 31, 2017, within other income. This disposal did not represent a
strategic shift in operations and, therefore, did not qualify for presentation as discontinued operations.
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Note 13.    Property and Equipment

December 31,
2018

December 31,
2017

Network equipment and computer hardware $ 91,901 $ 79,990
Leasehold improvements 36,464 36,987
Customer premise equipment 18,280 12,884
Furniture 7,616 4,668
Vehicles — 17

154,261 134,546
Less accumulated depreciation (104,999 ) (87,792 )
Property, plant and equipment $ 49,262 $ 46,754

Note 14.    Accrued Liabilities

December 31,
2018

December 31,
2017

Compensation and benefits, related taxes and temporary labor $ 33,249 $ 30,059
Marketing 10,238 10,759
Taxes and fees 11,189 13,353
Acquisition related consideration accounted for as compensation — 2,534
Telecommunications 21,403 16,068
Other accruals 4,729 7,078
Customer credits 3,325 2,310
Professional fees 2,049 1,618
Inventory 1,188 1,927

$ 87,370 $ 85,706

Note 15. Industry Segment and Geographic Information
ASC 280, Segment Reporting, establishes reporting standards for an enterprise's business segments and related
disclosures about its products, services, geographic areas and major customers.  Under ASC 280, the method for
determining what information to report is based upon the way management organizes the operating segments within
the Company for making operating decisions and assessing financial performance. Our chief operating decision-maker
reviews revenue and gross margin information for each of our reportable segments, but does not review operating
expenses on a segment by segment basis. In addition, with the exception of goodwill and intangible assets, we do not
identify or allocate our assets by the reportable segments.
Business
For our Business customers, we provide innovative, cloud-based UCaaS solutions, comprised of integrated voice, text,
video, data, collaboration, and mobile applications over our flexible, scalable SIP based VoIP network. Through
Nexmo, the Vonage API Platform, we also offer CPaaS solutions designed to enhance the way businesses
communicate with their customers embedding communications into apps, websites and business processes. Together

Edgar Filing: WESTPORT INNOVATIONS INC - Form 6-K

116



we have a robust set of product families tailored to serve the full range of the business value chain, from the SMB,
market, through mid-market and enterprise markets. We provide customers with multiple deployment options,
designed to provide the reliability and quality of service they demand. We provide customers the ability to integrate
our cloud communications platform with many cloud-based productivity and CRM solutions, including Google’s G
Suite, Zendesk, Salesforce’s Sales Cloud, Oracle, Clio, and other CRM solutions. In combination, our products and
services permit our business customers to communicate with their customers and employees through any
cloud-connected device, in any place, at any time without the often costly investment required with on-site equipment.

F-41     VONAGE ANNUAL REPORT 2018

Edgar Filing: WESTPORT INNOVATIONS INC - Form 6-K

117



Table of Contents

VONAGE HOLDINGS CORP.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Consumer
For our Consumer customers, we enable users to access and utilize our UCaaS services and features, via a single
“identity,” either a number or user name, regardless of how they are connected to the Internet, including over 3G/4G,
LTE, Cable, or DSL broadband networks. This technology enables us to offer our Consumer customers attractively
priced voice and messaging services and other features around the world on a variety of devices.

For our segments we categorize revenues as follows:

Services revenues. Services revenues consists primarily of revenue attributable to our communication services for
Consumer and Software Defined Wide Area Network, or SD-WAN, UCaaS and CPaaS services for Business,

Access and product revenues. Product revenues include equipment sold to customers, shipping and handling,
professional services, and broadband access. Beginning January 1, 2018, we also included revenues associated with
providing access services to Business customers. We have adjusted the three and nine months ended September 30,
2017 to include these revenues in access and product revenues which were previously included in service revenues.

USF revenues. USF revenues represent fees passed on to customers to offset required contributions to the USF.

For our segments we categorize cost of revenues as follows:

Services cost of revenues. Services cost of revenues consists of costs associated with network operations and technical
support personnel, communication origination, and termination services provided by third party carriers and excludes
depreciation and amortization.

Access and product cost of revenues. Product cost of revenues includes equipment sold to customers, shipping and
handling, professional services, cost of certain products including equipment or services that we give customers as
promotions, and broadband access. As noted above, beginning January 1, 2018, we also included costs associated with
providing access services to Business customers. We have adjusted the three and nine months ended September 30,
2017 to include these costs in access and product revenues which were previously included in service cost of
revenues.

USF cost of revenues. USF cost of revenues represents contributions to the Federal USF and related fees.
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Information about our segment results for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 were as follows:
Year ended December 31, 2018

Business Consumer Total
Revenues
Service revenues $526,707 $394,389 $921,096
Access and product revenues (1) 50,068 559 50,627
Service, access and product revenues 576,775 394,948 971,723
USF revenues 31,369 45,690 77,059
Total revenues 608,144 440,638 1,048,782

Cost of revenues
Service cost of revenues (2) 239,096 47,439 286,535
Access and product cost of revenues (1) 58,081 5,289 63,370
Service, access and product cost of revenues 297,177 52,728 349,905
USF cost of revenues 31,374 45,716 77,090
Total cost of revenues 328,551 98,444 426,995

Segment gross margin
Service margin 287,611 346,950 634,561
Access and product margin (8,013 ) (4,730 ) (12,743 )
Gross margin ex-USF (Service, access and product margin) 279,598 342,220 621,818
USF margin (5 ) (26 ) (31 )
Segment gross margin $279,593 $342,194 $621,787
Segment gross margin %
Service margin % 54.6% 88.0% 68.9%
Gross margin ex-USF (Service, access and product margin) % 48.5% 86.6% 64.0%
Segment gross margin % 46.0% 77.7% 59.3%

(1) Includes customer premise equipment, access, professional services, and shipping and handling.
(2) Excludes depreciation and amortization of $22,554, $5,200, and $27,754, respectively.
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Year ended December 31, 2017
Business Consumer Total

Revenues
Service revenues $417,118 $454,340 $871,458
Access and product revenues (1) 54,971 525 55,496
Service, access and product revenues 472,089 454,865 926,954
USF revenues 26,833 48,499 75,332
Total revenues 498,922 503,364 1,002,286

Cost of revenues
Service cost of revenues (2) 184,054 80,454 264,508
Access and product cost of revenues (1) 57,906 7,208 65,114
Service, access and product cost of revenues 241,960 87,662 329,622
USF cost of revenues 26,833 48,499 75,332
Total cost of revenues 268,793 136,161 404,954

Segment gross margin
Service margin 233,064 373,886 606,950
Access and product margin (2,935 ) (6,683 ) (9,618 )
Gross margin ex-USF (Service, access and product margin) 230,129 367,203 597,332
USF margin — — —
Segment gross margin $230,129 $367,203 $597,332
Segment gross margin %
Service margin % 55.9% 82.3% 69.6%
Gross margin ex-USF (Service, access and product margin) % 48.7% 80.7% 64.4%
Segment gross margin % 46.1% 72.9% 59.6%

(1) Includes customer premise equipment, access, and shipping and handling.
(2) Excludes depreciation and amortization of $20,100, $7,208, and $27,308, respectively.
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Year ended December 31, 2016
Business Consumer Total

Revenues
Service revenues $301,877 $522,515 $824,392
Access and product revenues (1) 52,450 702 53,152
Service, access and product revenues 354,327 523,217 877,544
USF revenues 22,025 56,052 78,077
Total revenues 376,352 579,269 955,621

Cost of revenues
Service cost of revenues (2) 111,485 100,054 211,539
Access and product cost of revenues (1) 51,129 14,394 65,523
Service and product cost of revenues 162,614 114,448 277,062
USF cost of revenues 22,036 56,052 78,088
Total cost of revenues 184,650 170,500 355,150

Segment gross margin
Service margin 190,392 422,461 612,853
Access and product margin 1,321 (13,692 ) (12,371 )
Gross margin ex-USF (Service, access and product margin) 191,713 408,769 600,482
USF margin (11 ) — (11 )
Segment gross margin $191,702 $408,769 $600,471
Segment gross margin %
Service margin % 63.1% 80.9% 74.3%
Gross margin ex-USF (Service, access and product margin) % 54.1% 78.1% 68.4%
Segment gross margin % 50.9% 70.6% 62.8%

(1) Includes customer premise equipment, access, and shipping and handling.
(2) Excludes depreciation and amortization of $18,820, $9,669, and $28,489, respectively.
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A reconciliation of the total of the reportable segments' gross margin to consolidated income before provision for
income taxes is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Total reportable gross margin $621,787 $597,332 $600,471
Sales and marketing 311,433 313,251 330,969
Engineering and development 52,139 29,630 29,759
General and administrative 135,324 122,537 123,304
Depreciation and amortization 70,980 72,523 72,285
Income from operations $51,911 $59,391 $44,154

Interest expense $(15,068 ) $(14,868 ) $(13,042 )
Other income (expense), net (318 ) 1,270 (267 )
Income before income taxes $36,525 $45,793 $30,845
Information about our operations by geographic location is as follows:

For the years ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Revenues:
United States $825,721 $851,413 $872,147
Canada 27,267 30,252 27,417
United Kingdom 49,430 28,309 17,365
Other Countries (1) 146,364 92,312 38,692

$1,048,782 $1,002,286 $955,621
(1) No individual other international country represented greater than 10% of total revenue during the periods
presented.

December 31,
2018

December 31,
2017

Long-lived assets:
United States $ 596,820 $ 615,432
United Kingdom 366,594 365
Israel 1,688 243

$ 965,102 $ 616,040
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Note 16. Cash Flow Information

Detail of supplemental disclosures for cash flow and non-cash investing and financing information was as follows:
For the years ended
December 31,

(In thousands) 2018 2017 2016
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the periods for:
Interest $14,278 $13,323 $11,621
Income taxes 6,644 6,760 5,335
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Capital expenditures included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities $1,036 $2,345 $3,610
Issuance of common stock in connection with acquisition of business — — 31,591
Contingent consideration in connection with acquisition of business — — 16,472
Assumption of options in connection with acquisition of business — — 4,779

Note 17. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)
Refer to Note 12, Acquisition and Dispositions for a description of the effect of unusual or infrequently occurring
events during the quarterly periods. Summarized unaudited quarterly financial data is as follows:

March 31,June 30,September 30,December 31,
Year Ended 2018
Revenue 253,573259,875 261,531 273,803
Income from operations 17,668 13,375 14,847 6,021
Net income (loss) 24,524 8,559 9,588 (6,943 )
Earnings (loss) per common share:
Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share 0.11 0.04 0.04 (0.03 )
Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share 0.10 0.03 0.04 (0.03 )

Year Ended 2017
Revenue 243,347251,836 253,083 254,020
Income from operations 5,124 6,659 24,623 22,985
Net income (loss) 5,913 4,825 10,602 (55,273 )
Earnings (loss) per common share:
Basic earnings (loss) per share
Basic earnings (loss) per share 0.03 0.02 0.05 (0.24 )
Diluted earnings (loss) per share
Diluted earnings (loss) per share 0.02 0.02 0.04 (0.24 )
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